
Who do you think you are?

Oxford Industries   2005 Annual Report

I N D U S T R I E S

222 Piedmont Avenue, N.E.
Atlanta, GA 30308
www.oxfordinc.com

O
X

F
O

R
D

 IN
D

U
S

T
R

IE
S

, IN
C

.     2
0

0
5

 A
N

N
U

A
L
 R

E
P

O
R

T



SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

OXFORD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

       Year Ended      2005-2004
     June 3, 2005 May 28, 2004 May 30, 2003 % change

 (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales  $1,313,609 $1,116,552 $764,602 17.6%
Net earnings 49,827 39,716 20,327 25.5%
Basic earnings per common share 2.97 2.47 1.35 20.2%
Diluted earnings per common share 2.87 2.38 1.34 20.6%
Dividends per common share 0.51 0.45 0.42 13.3%
Stockholders’ equity 303,501 238,977 189,365 27.0%
Book value per share at year-end 17.97 14.74 12.59 21.9%
Return on average stockholders’ equity 18.4% 18.5% 11.2% -0.5%

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Oxford Industries, Inc. is a producer and marketer of branded and private label apparel for men, women and 
children. Oxford provides retailers and consumers with a wide variety of apparel products and services to suit 
their individual needs. Oxford’s brands include Tommy Bahama®, Indigo Palms®, Island Soft®, Ben Sherman®, 
Ely & Walker® and Oxford Golf®. The Company also holds exclusive licenses to produce and sell certain product 
categories under the Tommy Hilfiger®, Nautica®, Geoffrey Beene®, Slates®, Dockers® and Oscar de la Renta® 
labels. The Company’s customers are found in every major channel of distribution. Oxford’s common stock 
has traded on the New York Stock Exchange since 1964 under the symbol OXM. For more information, please 
visit our Web site at www.oxfordinc.com.

As of June 3, 2005, there were 464 shareholders of record of our common stock. The table below sets forth, for 
each of the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock (adjusted to refl ect our 
two-for-one stock split on December 1, 2003) as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape.

       High Low

Fiscal 2005
 Fourth Quarter   $42.59 $33.66
 Third Quarter   $42.50 $33.34
 Second Quarter   $43.45 $35.50
 First Quarter   $45.14 $35.15

Fiscal 2004
 Fourth Quarter   $47.50 $35.00
 Third Quarter   $44.69 $29.60
 Second Quarter   $35.83 $28.65
 First Quarter   $30.65 $19.52

On July 11, 2005, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.135 per share payable on September 5, 
2005 to shareholders of record on August 22, 2005, which was the 181st consecutive quarterly dividend we 
have paid since we became a public company in July 1960.
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With our expanding 

portfolio of brands, 

it’s your choice.
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You don’t have to be surrounded by water to attain the relaxed spirit of a tropical island. Tommy Bahama 

does it for you. Casual elegance defi nes this brand, which is refl ected in its sophisticated collection of men’s 

and women’s sportswear crafted from the fi nest fabrics. Tommy Bahama’s crystal clear vision epitomizes 

a lifestyle brand, one that can be leveraged across multiple product categories, from accessories to home 

furnishings. The brand also extends beyond the aisles of America’s best department stores to its own specialty 

retail stores and cafes, where Tommy Bahama can transport you to a tropical oasis, anywhere, anytime. 
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City Sophisticates In An Island State of Mind



Whether it’s a traditional tailored suit or casual slacks with a golf shirt, Oxford Menswear makes sure 

that millions of American men look their sharpest. Through licensed brands such as Tommy Hilfi ger, 

Nautica, Dockers, Slates, Geoffrey Beene and Oscar de la Renta, our dress shirts, slacks and suits can 

be found in most department stores. Private label programs with leading retailers such as L.L.Bean, 

JCPenney, Sears and Lands’ End, to name a few, mean that whether you are dressing up or dressing 

down, at some point you are probably dressing in Oxford.

The Sharpest Suit In The Offi ce
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For too long, adult men and women have had to pick style over fi t, or vice versa, when it comes to 

a great pair of jeans. Now they can have both. Indigo Palms, a denim brand brought to you by the 

team at Tommy Bahama, delivers all the style that teenagers fl aunt, but with a fi t that grown-ups 

want. It’s a sizeable segment of the market that has been largely underserved. We’re changing that as 

Indigo Palms begins making its mark in upscale department stores, as well as its own retail stores.

A So Hip Mom In A Perfect Fit



The 21st Century Mod Squad
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Forty years ago, the British music invasion took American youth by storm. Many of the invaders 

were wearing Ben Sherman, a line of tailored shirts that personifi ed the hip style of London’s 

Carnaby Street. The invasion continues today as Ben Sherman itself makes its debut in America’s 

best department stores and specialty shops. The distinctive shirt is still the brand’s signature piece, 

and all the attitude is still there, but Ben Sherman now includes full men’s and women’s sportswear 

collections, footwear and denim. This lifestyle brand also makes a great retail concept. Look for it 

soon in New York and Los Angeles. 
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This season’s must-have blazer can set you back $249 or $24.99. If the latter fi ts your budget, then 

Oxford Womenswear is dedicated to serving you. This division specializes in supplying fashion-right, 

trend-right products to leading discount retailers. It is a strategy that not only equalizes the playing 

fi eld between the haves and the have-nots in the fashion world, but also provides us with a distinct 

advantage in the large, highly competitive market of discount retailing.

A Fashionista On A Budget
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The Menswear Group is well positioned to provide today’s man with the styling he needs to express his 

unique personality. Whether it’s on the links, in the city, at the beach or in the mountains, we’re ready 

to provide sportswear to fi t his individual sense of style. Our men’s sportswear divisions are focused on 

four key lifestyle concepts: golf, traditional/outdoor, California/island, and contemporary/modern. 

Oxford combines product category expertise with world-class styling and design to bring U.S. 

consumers the lifestyles they desire.

A Man For All Seasons



LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

The magnitude of this transformation is particularly 
apparent when you consider that our Tommy Bahama 
and Ben Sherman businesses accounted for more 
than 40 percent of total revenues and more than 
70 percent of total operating income in fi scal 2005. 
As recently as fi scal 2003, these businesses were 
absent from our results. Indeed, the acquisition of 
these lifestyle brands in the last two years, combined 
with solid performances by our legacy businesses, have 
made us a more profi table, more predictable and 
more growth-oriented company as evidenced by our 
fi scal 2005 performance. 

Fiscal 2005 was an outstanding year for Oxford. 
Net sales increased 17.6 percent to $1,313 million 
from $1,116 million last year. Sales growth was driven 
by the addition of Ben Sherman, new marketing ini-
tiatives in the Menswear Group and continuing growth 
in the branded divisions of the Tommy Bahama 
Group. Diluted earnings per share increased 21 per-
cent over last year to $2.87 from $2.38, due to the 
increasing contribution of the Tommy Bahama and 
Ben Sherman lifestyle brands.

REVIEWING SEGMENT PERFORMANCES

The Tommy Bahama Group enjoyed an increase in 
net sales of 8.3 percent, or $30.5 million, in fi scal 
2005, despite a reduction in net sales of $29.2 mil-
lion, due to our strategic decision to exit this group’s 

private label business. Excluding the impact of the 
private label exit, the Tommy Bahama branded busi-
nesses grew sales by approximately 18 percent over 
last year. Operating income increased 6.9 percent over 
last year to $54.1 million. The increase in profi tabil-
ity in the Tommy Bahama group was primarily the 
result of a more profi table mix of business and an 
increasing contribution from company-owned retail 
stores which numbered 53 at year-end.

The Womenswear Group had a very challenging 
year in fi scal 2005, which resulted in a sales decline of 
13.8 percent to $256.8 million. However, a concerted 
effort to improve profi tability through expense reduc-
tions and sourcing effi ciencies led to a signifi cant 
increase in profi tability for the second half of fi scal 
2005. Operating income for the year declined 8.1 per-
cent to $10.6 million.

The Menswear Group reported a 46.3 percent 
increase in net sales over last year, aided by the addi-
tion of $154 million in sales from Ben Sherman, 
which was acquired on July 30, 2004. Exclusive of 
Ben Sherman, our historical menswear business grew 
sales by approximately 12 percent in fi scal 2005, with 
broad-based growth over most major product cate-
gories. Operating income for the Menswear Group 
increased by 38.9 percent to $58.2 million, due to 
the addition of Ben Sherman and stronger results in 
our tailored clothing business.

J. Hicks Lanier
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
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“ Who do you think you are?” The way we answer 

this question today is dramatically different than it 

would have been just two years ago. Our strategy to 

acquire and grow lifestyle brands has transformed 

Oxford’s business. In the process, it also has given 

us the confi dence to answer this question by saying, 

“we are a growing and profi table company with 

numerous, compelling opportunities to build further 

value for our shareholders going forward.” 



As pleased as we are with our results in fi scal 2005, 
we believe even more potential lies ahead. Looking 
across our entire portfolio of businesses, we are in an 
excellent position to grow wholesale distribution of 
our brands, to expand the retail component of our 
branded businesses, to further capitalize on the lifestyle 
appeal of our brands through licensing, and to leverage 
our internal expertise and infrastructure through new 
marketing programs.

GROWING IN RETAIL’S BEST PLACES

As authentic lifestyle brands spanning numerous 
product categories and line extensions, Tommy 
Bahama and Ben Sherman provide us with multi-
faceted opportunities for growth. One of the most 
obvious opportunities is continued expansion in 
the wholesale channel that these premium brands 
share, namely upscale department stores and top-
tier, independent specialty shops. Tommy Bahama 
is a major supplier of men’s sportswear to this highly 
desirable distribution channel. Tommy Bahama’s 
largest customer in this channel is Nordstrom, and 
we remain Nordstrom’s largest men’s sportswear 
resource. While Tommy Bahama’s penetration of 
this market segment is high, the brand continues 
to experience growth through product line exten-
sions and increased market share. 

The women’s division of Tommy Bahama 
represents an entirely different growth opportunity 
at wholesale and one with considerable upside. This 
division currently generates less than 15 percent of the 
brand’s wholesale revenue. Over the last 18 months, 
this business has re-tooled its line to refl ect a more 
youthful style, with a fi t appropriate for its target 
audience of adult women. These changes have resulted 
in an improved performance within our company-
owned retail stores. We expect these improvements 
to fi lter through to the wholesale channel and are 
optimistic that the women’s business will begin to 
accelerate in the coming year. 

Ben Sherman also focuses on this upscale tier 
of distribution. Since its introduction into the U.S. 
market, this highly respected British brand has made 
its way into more than 1,200 doors in the United 
States, certainly an enthusiastic reception and one 
that surpassed our expectations. We believe that Ben 

Sherman possesses signifi cant upside potential in the 
U.S. market. With full men’s and women’s sportswear 
collections, footwear and denim, as well as a new 
line of tailored clothing, dress shirts and neckwear 
launching this fall, there is vast potential for Ben 
Sherman to grow its presence within the best doors 
in American retailing.

EXPANDING VERTICAL RETAILING 

Though Oxford’s heritage lies in the wholesale side 
of the apparel business, our enthusiasm for retail 
stores is growing, given their positive impact on 
profi tability and brand building. Tommy Bahama, 
Ben Sherman and Indigo Palms all have vertical 
retailing components to their business, and all plan 
to steadily expand their retail operations. Company-
owned stores now represent nearly half of Tommy 
Bahama’s sales, with a total of 53 stores open and 
eight more planned in fi scal 2006. Indigo Palms has 
four stores, included in this total, which are helping 
to establish this emerging brand. This past year, Ben 
Sherman opened its second UK store in Manchester 
and plans to unveil storefronts in New York and Los 
Angeles this coming year. For each brand, retail stores 
are not only growing profi t centers, but also an impor-
tant part of their brand-building strategy. These 
controlled environments provide a platform to test 
new products and receive direct feedback from con-
sumers. The stores also enable us to showcase a full 
range of products in a manner that accentuates the 
brand’s image and vision.

LICENSING THE LIFESTYLE

As lifestyle brands, the potential to license Tommy 
Bahama and Ben Sherman across a wide variety of 
product categories is a sizeable and attractive source 
of royalty revenues. Properly executed, licensing is a 
win-win proposition for us. We can retain the neces-
sary controls to ensure the integrity of the brand, while 
developing a predictable, recurring income stream 
with minimal capital investment. Within Tommy 
Bahama, this income stream is beginning to achieve 
critical mass. Over the past year, eyewear, fragrance, 
ceiling fans and handbags are some of the categories 
in which licensing agreements have been signed. 
Similarly, in the United Kingdom, Ben Sherman is 
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS Continued

licensed across more than a dozen different categories. 
As we develop Ben Sherman’s business in the United 
States, we expect licensing to play an equally impor-
tant role in building its image and its revenue.

ADDING VALUE IN PRIVATE LABEL

Beyond our owned lifestyle brands, licensed brand 
and private label businesses continue to be a mean-
ingful part of Oxford’s operations. In the private 
label arena, the risk of commoditization and direct 
sourcing is always our challenge. Our opportunity, 
however, is to identify areas where we can add sig-
nifi cant value for our customers by bringing global 
sourcing expertise and innovative styling and design 
to their selling fl oors. In womenswear, for instance, 
customers who source an entire collection, which 
requires coordinating multiple products to hit the 
sales fl oor simultaneously, fi nd our global sourcing 
and supply chain infrastructure a helpful alternative 
to their more limited, internal sourcing operations. 

Likewise, we can add value for customers through 
new marketing initiatives. This past year, JCPenney 
needed an exclusive brand with an edgy feel targeted 
to 20- to 35-year-olds. Working with designer Nick 
Graham of “Joe Boxer” fame, we developed a com-
plete collection, Nick(it), that launched in 500 stores. 
Such programs can generate considerable organic 
growth and leverage the expertise and infrastructure 
that exist within the Oxford organization. 

THINKING AHEAD 

Though there is no shortage of ways to grow Oxford 
today, we have a long tradition of looking ahead and 
putting strategies in place for the future. A top 
brand in the United Kingdom, Ben Sherman has 
become an international brand through its expansion 
into the United States, Europe, Australia and the Far 
East. We have no doubt that Ben Sherman can travel 
even further over time. We believe these skill sets may 
open up opportunities for us to pursue international 
expansion strategies with other brands in the future.

Oxford has every intention of continuing to 
expand its brand portfolio. This expansion may 
come from within the Company, such as the Tommy 
Bahama team has done with Indigo Palms, or through 
future acquisitions. We are fortunate to remain in 
an acquisitive mode, thanks to a solid balance sheet 
and capital structure.

THE BEST OF BOTH WORLDS

At this time last year, we had just completed the 
Ben Sherman acquisition and were still absorbing 
Tommy Bahama as part of Oxford. Nevertheless, we 
were satisfi ed and optimistic that we had achieved a 
successful strategic transformation of the Company. 
A year later, our satisfaction and enthusiasm for these 
new brands is even higher than at the time of pur-
chase. Oxford truly represents the best of both worlds. 
Our lifestyle brands have injected new energy and 
new growth into our business. Their management 
teams are terrifi c and a great source of marketing 
insight for our organization. At the same time, the 
attributes that have made Oxford a successful com-
petitor for more than 60 years in the apparel business 
remain intact and invaluable. Our manufacturing 
heritage and expertise, our focus on execution and 
our solid fi nancial position provide us with every-
thing we need for continued success. 

In closing, I extend my personal appreciation to 
Oxford employees around the world who are making 
this success happen. We look forward to sharing even 
more of it with you.

Sincerely,

J. Hicks Lanier
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
August 22, 2005
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Growth
A look at Oxford’s opportunities

Licensing
Licensing enables us to expand into a host of key product categories that greatly 
enhance the consumer appeal and awareness of our lifestyle brands. Both the 
Tommy Bahama and Ben Sherman brands are developing an expanded portfolio 
of licensed products. These licenses not only strengthen the lifestyle positioning 
of these brands, but also provide an attractive royalty stream with a very modest 
capital investment. In fi scal 2005, our royalty income exceeded $12 million.

A LICENSE FOR 
AN ISLAND LIFESTYLE

Tommy Bahama has carefully chosen category-

leading partners to expand into product categories 

that range from home furnishings to handbags 

and accessories. Licensing partners must protect 

and support the integrity of our brand, while 

interpreting the Tommy Bahama lifestyle in the 

product category of their particular expertise. 

IMPORTING UK SUCCESS 
TO THE US

Ben Sherman has a successful history of licensing 

its brand in the United Kingdom. The brand currently 

licenses more than a dozen product categories, 

including suits, dress shirts, eyewear, fragrance, 

outerwear, leather goods and accessories. 

Ben Sherman has embarked on a similar licensing 

strategy to replicate this same level of success 

in the United States. The brand has recently 

announced plans to license underwear, watches, 

fragrance, suits and eyewear.
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Growth
A look at Oxford’s opportunities continued

Retail
Company-owned retail stores are an increasingly important component of our 
corporate strategy. Not only are these stores a revenue growth engine, but they 
also provide us with an opportunity to showcase our brands in an environment 
that is carefully designed to communicate each brand’s unique point of view. 
We currently operate a total of 55 company-owned stores under four retail 
concepts: Tommy Bahama, Tommy Bahama Café & Emporium, Indigo Palms 
and Ben Sherman.

COMPOUNDING 
THE EXPERIENCE

The Tommy Bahama Café & Emporium pairs a 

Tommy Bahama retail store with an upscale, 

tropical-inspired restaurant and bar. We believe 

there is no better way for our guests to fully 

immerse themselves in the Tommy Bahama life-

style than this innovative and highly successful 

retail and dining concept. With seven compounds 

from Florida to Hawaii, we focus on affluent 

resort destinations.

SHOPPING THE TROPICS

Our Tommy Bahama retail stores offer a complete 

assortment of the brand’s sportswear collections for 

men and women, plus a growing representation of 

licensed products. We currently operate 38 Tommy 

Bahama retail stores and four outlet stores, all in 

the United States. We have plans to add eight addi-

tional full price retail stores this fi scal year.
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SO HIP COMING TO SOHO

Ben Sherman’s original retail store is located on 

London’s Carnaby Street, where the brand came of 

age in the 60s and 70s, while a second store has 

opened in Manchester. We plan for a modest retail 

store rollout in the United Kingdom over the next 

several years. In the United States, the fi rst retail 

store will open in the Soho section of New York 

in early 2006, with a second store following soon 

thereafter in Los Angeles. 

PAINTING THE TOWN BLUE

Indigo Palms is our collection of luxurious, yet 

casual, denim and related sportswear for men 

and women. Though targeted at the core Tommy 

Bahama customer, Indigo Palms is a distinct, 

stand-alone brand focused on the adult denim 

market. To date, there are four retail stores in 

Florida, California and Nevada, and we believe 

this retail concept has broad geographic appeal 

and signifi cant opportunities for growth.
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Growth
A look at Oxford’s opportunities continued

Acquisitions and Growth

To illustrate the dramatic impact of our strategic repositioning through key 
acquisitions, the chart above shows the approximate percentage of Oxford’s 
total sales and operating earnings contributed by the Tommy Bahama and 
Ben Sherman lifestyle brands in fi scal 2005. 

02

764.6

1,116.6

1,313.6

NET SALES
In Millions of Dollars

677.3

DILUTED EARNINGS
 PER SHARE

In Dollars

1.34

2.38

2.87

.70

Our strategic repositioning over the past three years has had a signifi cant impact 
on our growth and profi tability. The compounded annual growth rates of our 
net sales and diluted earnings per share for the three years ending with fi scal 
2005 are 25% and 60%, respectively.
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 Year Ended

 June 3, 2005 May 28, 2004 May 30, 2003 May 31, 2002 June 1, 2001

 ($ and shares in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales $ 1,313,609 $ 1,116,552 $ 764,602 $ 677,264 $ 812,495
Cost of goods sold  875,355  776,108  604,891  544,016  663,484
Gross profit  438,254  340,444  159,711  133,248  149,011
Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses  336,608  251,836  124,285  113,630  117,291
Amortization of intangible assets  8,978  6,709  77  2,099  2,099
Royalties and other operating income  12,059  5,114  –   –  –
Operating income  104,727  87,013  35,349  17,519  29,621
Interest expense, net  29,147  23,913  1,935  243  4,870
Earnings before income taxes  75,580  63,100  33,414  17,276  24,751
Income taxes  25,753  23,384  13,087  6,704  9,405
Net earnings  49,827  39,716  20,327  10,572  15,346
Basic earnings per common share  2.97  2.47  1.35  0.71  1.03
Basic weighted average 
 shares outstanding  16,788  16,100  15,035  14,987  14,932
Diluted earnings per common share  2.87  2.38  1.34  0.70  1.03
Diluted weighted average 
 shares outstanding  17,350  16,699  15,143  15,099  14,970
Dividends  8,515  7,285  6,314  6,304  6,249
Dividends per share  0.51  0.45  0.42  0.42  0.42
Total assets  905,877  694,817  494,365  250,513  263,240
Long-term debt  289,123  198,814  198,586  139  399
Shareholders’ equity  303,501  238,977  189,365  175,201  168,940
Capital expenditures  23,544  14,143  2,051  1,528  4,332
Depreciation and amortization  22,477  18,411  5,937  8,888  9,249
Amortization of deferred 
 financing costs  4,439  2,654  50  –  –
Book value per share at year-end  17.97  14.74  12.59  11.66  11.41
Return on average 
 shareholders’ equity  18.4%  18.5%  11.2%  6.1%  9.2%
Return on average total assets  6.2%  6.7%  5.5%  4.1%  5.1%
Current ratio   1.85:1  1.84:1   2.47:1   3.06:1  2.45:1 
Debt to total capitalization ratio  49%  45%  51%  0%  0%
Share price on last day of fiscal year  41.75  36.85  20.40  13.74  10.92

*  See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” beginning on page 19 for a discussion of events that affect our selected financial data. 
All share and per share data above reflect our two-for-one stock split on December 1, 2003. 
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The following discussion and analysis of our operations, 

cash flows, liquidity and capital resources should be read 

in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements 

contained in this report.

OVERVIEW

We generate revenues and cash flow through the design, 
production, distribution and sale of branded and private 
label consumer apparel for men, women, and children and 
the licensing of company owned trademarks. Our principal 
markets and customers are located primarily in the United 
States. We source more than 90% of our products through 
third party producers, but also manufacture certain of our 
products in manufacturing facilities owned directly by us 
and through joint venture arrangements. We primarily 
distribute our products through our wholesale customers 
including chain stores, department stores, specialty stores, 
mail order and mass merchandising and also through our 
own retail stores for some brands.
 We operate in an industry that is highly competitive. 
Our ability to continuously evaluate and respond to chang-
ing consumer demands and tastes, across multiple market 
segments, distribution channels and geographic regions is 
critical to our success. Although our approach is aimed at 
diversifying our risks, misjudging shifts in consumer pref-
erences could have a negative effect on future operating 
results. Other key aspects of competition include quality, 
brand image, distribution methods, price, customer service 
and intellectual property protection. Our size and global 
operating strategies help us to successfully compete by posi-
tioning us to take advantage of synergies in product design, 
development, sourcing and distribution of our products. 
Our success in the future will depend on our ability to con-
tinue to design products that are acceptable to the markets 
that we serve and to source our products on a competitive 
basis while still earning appropriate margins.
 The most significant event in fiscal 2005 was the 
July 30, 2004 acquisition of Ben Sherman, which we operate 
as part of our Menswear Group. We acquired Ben Sherman 
for approximately $145 million, plus associated expenses. 
Ben Sherman is a London-based designer, distributor and 
marketer of branded sportswear, accessories, and footwear. 
The transaction was financed with cash on hand, borrow-
ings under our U.S. Revolver and certain Seller Notes (each 

described in “Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital 
Resources” below). In connection with this acquisition, 
our U.S. Revolver was amended and restated to provide the 
necessary flexibility to finance the acquisition. This acquisi-
tion has resulted in significant increases in substantially all 
balance sheet accounts and has had and is expected to con-
tinue to have a positive impact on the amount of cash flows 
generated from operating activities.
 Additionally, in June 2003, we acquired all of the out-
standing capital stock of Viewpoint International, Inc., 
which we operate as the Tommy Bahama Group, for a pur-
chase price consisting of $240 million in cash, $10 million 
of our common stock and up to $75 million in contingent 
payments subject to the Tommy Bahama Group achieving 
certain performance targets. The $75 million in contin-
gent payments may, at the option of the selling stockhold-
ers during the first two years, include up to $12.5 million 
of our common stock valued at $12.88 per share, which 
was earned in full during year 1 and year 2.
 For further discussion of the acquisitions refer to note 
2 in our consolidated financial statements.
 During fiscal 2005, we have continued to see increases 
in net sales and operating results. We generated diluted 
earnings per share of $2.87 during fiscal 2005 compared 
to $2.38 during fiscal 2004. The increases in net sales and 
earnings per share were primarily a result of the acquisi-
tion of Ben Sherman and growth in the Tommy Bahama 
Group’s branded business.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following tables set forth the line items in the con-
solidated statements of earnings data both in dollars and 
as a percentage of net sales. The tables also set forth the 
percentage change of the data as compared to the prior 
year. We have calculated all percentages based on actual 
data, but percentage columns may not add due to round-
ing. Individual line items of our consolidated statements 
of earnings may not be directly comparable to those of our 
competitors, as statement of earnings classification of cer-
tain expenses may vary by company. The results of opera-
tions of Ben Sherman and the Tommy Bahama Group are 
included in our consolidated statements of earnings from 
the respective dates of the acquisitions.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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  Fiscal Year

  2005 2004 2003

 ($ in thousands)

Net sales     $ 1,313,609 $ 1,116,552 $ 764,602
Cost of goods sold      875,355  776,108  604,891
Gross profit      438,254  340,444  159,711
Selling, general & administrative      336,608  251,836  124,285
Amortization of intangible assets      8,978  6,709  77
Royalties and other operating income      12,059  5,114  –
Operating income      104,727  87,013  35,349
Interest expense, net      29,147  23,913  1,935
Earnings before income taxes      75,580  63,100  33,414
Income taxes      25,753  23,384  13,087
Net earnings     $ 49,827 $ 39,716 $ 20,327

  Fiscal Year   % Change

% of Net Sales 2005 2004 2003 ’04-’05 ’03-’04

Net sales  100.0%  100.0%  100.0%  17.6%  46.0%
Cost of goods sold  66.6%  69.5%  79.1%  12.8%  28.3%
Gross profit  33.4%  30.5%  20.9%  28.7%  113.2%
Selling, general & administrative  25.6%  22.6%  16.3%  33.7%  102.6%
Amortization of intangible assets  0.7%  0.6%  N/A  33.8%  N/A
Royalties and other operating income  0.9%  0.5%  N/A  135.8%  N/A
Operating income  8.0%  7.8%  4.6%  20.4%  146.2%
Interest expense, net  2.2%  2.1%  0.3%  21.9%  N/A
Earnings before income taxes  5.8%  5.7%  4.4%  19.8%  88.8%
Income taxes  2.0%  2.1%  1.7%  10.1%  78.7%
Net earnings  3.8%  3.6%  2.7%  25.5%  95.4%

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

SEGMENT DEFINITION

We have three operating segments for purposes of allocat-
ing resources and assessing performance which are based 
on products distributed. The segment information for the 
year ended May 30, 2003 has been restated to conform 
to our current determination of our operating segments. 
The Menswear Group produces branded and private label 
dress shirts, sport shirts, dress slacks, casual slacks, suits, 
sportcoats, suit separates, walkshorts, golf apparel, outer-
wear, sweaters, jeans, swimwear, footwear and headwear, 
licenses its brands for accessories and other products and 
operates retail stores. The Womenswear Group produces 
private label women’s sportswear separates, coordinated 
sportswear, outerwear, dresses and swimwear. The Tommy 
Bahama Group produces lifestyle branded casual attire, 
operates retail stores and restaurants, and licenses its brands 

for accessories, footwear, furniture, and other products. 
The head of each operating segment reports to the chief 
operating decision maker.
 Corporate and Other is a reconciling category for 
reporting purposes and includes our corporate offices, sub-
stantially all financing activities, LIFO inventory account-
ing adjustments and other costs that are not allocated to the 
operating groups. LIFO inventory calculations are made 
on a legal entity basis which does not correspond to our 
segment definitions. Therefore, LIFO inventory accounting 
adjustments are not allocated to the operating segments. 
Total assets for Corporate and Other included the LIFO 
inventory reserve of $37.3 million, $35.5 million and 
$34.9 million at June 3, 2005, May 28, 2004 and May 30, 
2003, respectively. The information below presents certain 
information about our segments.
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  Fiscal Year   % Change

 2005 2004 2003 ’04-’05 ’03-’04

 ($ in thousands)

NET SALES

Menswear Group $ 656,606 $ 448,800 $ 455,516 46.3% (1.5)%
Womenswear Group  256,822  297,865  308,762 (13.8)% (3.5)%
Tommy Bahama Group  399,658  369,148  – 8.3% N/A
Corporate and Other  523  739  324 (29.2)% 128.1%
Total   $ 1,313,609 $ 1,116,552 $ 764,602 17.6% 46.0%

  Fiscal Year   % Change

 2005 2004 2003 ’04-’05 ’03-’04

 ($ in thousands)

OPERATING INCOME

Menswear Group $ 58,237 $ 41,915 $ 27,837 38.9% 50.6%
Womenswear Group  10,648  11,583  17,321 (8.1)% (33.1)%
Tommy Bahama Group  54,128  50,644  – 6.9% N/A
Corporate and Other  (18,286)  (17,129)  (9,809) (6.8)% (74.6)%
Total   $ 104,727 $ 87,013 $ 35,349 20.4% 146.2%

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

 For further information regarding our segments, see 
note 11 to our consolidated financial statements included 
in this report.

FISCAL 2005 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2004

The discussion below compares our results of operations 
for fiscal 2005 to our results of operations for fiscal 2004. 
Each percentage change provided below reflects the change 
between these periods.

TOTAL COMPANY

Net sales increased $197.1 million, or 17.6%, in fiscal 
2005. The increase was primarily due to:
•  The sales of Ben Sherman, which provided approximately 

$154.1 million in net sales.
•  A unit sales increase of 0.7% primarily due to the 

sales of Ben Sherman, the growth in Tommy Bahama 
Group’s branded sales and new marketing initiatives in 
our historical menswear business offset by a decline in 
Womenswear sales and the exit from private label busi-
ness by the Tommy Bahama Group.

•  An average selling price per unit increase of 16.9%, pri-
marily attributable to the shift in product mix includ-
ing increased sales in branded businesses, the Tommy 
Bahama Group’s exit from the private label business and 
the decline in sales in our Womenswear Group.

 Gross profit increased 28.7% in fiscal 2005. The increase 
was due to higher sales and higher gross margins. Gross mar-
gins increased from 30.5% during fiscal 2004 to 33.4% dur-
ing fiscal 2005. The increase was primarily due to:
•  The increased branded sales of the Tommy Bahama Group, 

which has higher gross margins.
•  The exit from the private label business by the Tommy 

Bahama Group, which has lower gross margins.
•  The acquisition of Ben Sherman, which has higher 

gross margins. 
•  The decline in Womenswear sales, which has lower 

gross margins. 
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 Our gross profit may not be directly comparable to 
those of our competitors, as income statement classifica-
tions of certain expenses may vary by company.
 Selling, General and Administrative Expenses, or 
“SG&A,” increased 33.7% in fiscal 2005. SG&A was 
25.6% of net sales in fiscal 2005 compared to 22.6% in 
fiscal 2004. The increase in SG&A was primarily due to:
•  The addition of Ben Sherman, which has a higher SG&A 

expense structure. 
•  Expenses associated with opening new retail stores in the 

Tommy Bahama Group.
•  Start up costs associated with new marketing initiatives 

in our Menswear Group.
•  Increased auditing and compliance costs primarily 

related to the implementation of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002.

 Amortization of intangible assets increased 33.8% 
in fiscal 2005. The change was primarily the result of 
the amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of 
the Ben Sherman acquisition, partially offset by lower 
amortization amounts related to the Tommy Bahama 
Group acquisition.
 Royalties and other operating income increased 
135.8% in fiscal 2005. The increase was due to an increase 
in royalties earned from existing licenses as well as new 
licenses for the Tommy Bahama and Ben Sherman brands.
 Interest expense, net, increased 21.9% in fiscal 2005. 
The increase in interest expense was due to the interest on 
debt incurred to finance the acquisition of Ben Sherman 
and the non-cash write-off of $1.8 million of deferred 
financing costs resulting from the modification of our 
U.S. Revolver in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 associated 
with the Ben Sherman acquisition.
 Income taxes were at an effective tax rate of 34.1% 
for fiscal 2005 compared to 37.1% for fiscal 2004. 
Variations in the effective tax rate were primarily attrib-
utable to the acquisition of Ben Sherman during fiscal 
2005. Additionally, we received refunds of prior year 
state taxes, recorded a decrease in certain contingent tax 
liabilities and had a change in the relative distribution of 
pre-tax earnings among the various taxing jurisdictions in 
which we operate.

 The effective tax rate for fiscal 2005 is not necessarily 
indicative of the effective tax rate that would be expected in 
future periods.

SEGMENT RESULTS

Menswear Group

The Menswear Group reported a $207.8 million, or 
46.3%, increase in net sales in fiscal 2005. The change was 
primarily due to:

•  The acquisition of Ben Sherman, which had sales of 

$154.1 million since acquisition.
•  The unit sales increase of 13.5%, excluding Ben Sherman, 

from new marketing initiatives in dress shirts and sport 
shirts, tailored clothing and the licensed Nick(it) sports-
wear collection.

•  The average selling price per unit decline of 1.4%, exclud-
ing Ben Sherman, due to a change in product mix.

 The Menswear Group reported a 38.9% increase in 
operating income in fiscal 2005. The increase in oper-
ating income was primarily due to the acquisition of 
Ben Sherman and stronger results in our tailored clothing 
business. Operating income growth was partially offset 
by losses related to the startup of new marketing initia-
tives, weaker performance in our licensed golf business 
and weaker performance in our private label sportswear 
and casual slacks business.

Womenswear Group

The Womenswear Group reported a 13.8% decline in net 
sales in fiscal 2005. The net change was primarily due to 
the unit sales decline of 17.3%, primarily in the discount 
distribution channel. This was partially offset by the aver-
age selling price per unit increase of 4.3%, primarily due to 
product mix within the discount distribution channel.
 The Womenswear Group reported a decline of 8.1% 
in operating income in fiscal 2005. The decrease was pri-
marily due to the sales decline. However we successfully 
implemented a more efficient sourcing structure and 
reduced SG&A which resulted in higher operating mar-
gins, particularly in the second half of fiscal 2005, which 
we expect to continue into fiscal 2006.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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Tommy Bahama Group

The Tommy Bahama Group reported an increase of 
$30.5 million, or 8.3%, in net sales in fiscal 2005 despite 
a reduction in net sales of $29.2 million due to exiting the 
private label business. The increase was primarily due to:
•  Our ownership of Tommy Bahama for all 53 weeks of 

fiscal 2005 as compared to 50 of 52 weeks in fiscal 2004.

•  The unit sales increase of 10.6%, excluding the private 

label business. 

•  The average selling price per unit increase of 18.1%, 

excluding the private label business.

•  An increase in the number of total retail stores from 42 at 

May 28, 2004 to 53 at June 3, 2005.

 The Tommy Bahama Group reported a 6.9% increase 
in operating income in fiscal 2005. The increase was pri-
marily due to:
•  The favorable change in product mix from the lower 

margin private label business to the higher margin 
branded business.

•  The higher proportion of sales through our retail stores as 
opposed to our wholesale distribution channel.

•  Decreased amortization of intangible assets. 
•  Increased royalty income. 

 The increased operating income mentioned above was 
partially offset by: 

•  Higher marketing expenses, including $3.4 million related 

to our title sponsorship in the PGA “Tommy Bahama 

Challenge Golf Tournament”.
• Increased SG&A related to opening new retail stores. 

Corporate and Other

The Corporate and Other operating loss increased 6.8% 
in fiscal 2005. The increase in the operating loss was pri-
marily due to increased parent company expenses partially 
offset by LIFO inventory accounting.

FISCAL 2004 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2003

The discussion below compares our results of operations 
for fiscal 2004 to our results of operations for fiscal 2003. 
Each percentage change provided below reflects the change 
between these periods.

TOTAL COMPANY

Net sales increased $352.0 million, or 46.0%, in fiscal 
2004. The increase was primarily due to:
•  The average selling price per unit increase of 23.5%, 

due to the higher average selling price per unit of 
Tommy Bahama merchandise.

•  The unit sales increase of 15.2%, almost entirely due to 
the acquisition of the Tommy Bahama Group.

•  Our pre-acquisition business experiencing a 3.5% decline 
in the average selling price per unit and an increase of 
1.3% in unit sales.

 Gross profit increased 113.2% in fiscal 2004. The 
increase was due to higher sales and higher gross margins. 
Gross margins increased from 20.9% in fiscal 2003 to 
30.5% in fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily due to 
the acquisition of the Tommy Bahama Group with its rela-
tively higher gross margins.
 SG&A increased 102.6% in fiscal 2004. SG&A was 
16.3% of net sales in fiscal 2003 compared to 22.6% of 
net sales in fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily due to 
the acquisition of the Tommy Bahama Group with its rela-
tively higher SG&A expense structure, partially offset by 
the decline in SG&A due to the wind-down of Izod Club 
Golf operations.
 Amortization of intangible assets increased from 
$77,000 in fiscal 2003 to $6.7 million in fiscal 2004. All 
of the increase in the amortization of intangible assets was 
due to the acquisition of the Tommy Bahama Group.
 Royalties and other operating income was primarily 
licensing income from licensing the Tommy Bahama brand.
 Interest expense, net increased from $1.9 million in 
fiscal 2003 to $23.9 million in fiscal 2004. The increase in 
interest expense was due to the interest on debt incurred 
to finance the acquisition of the Tommy Bahama Group 
and the amortization of deferred financing costs related 
to the acquisition.
 Income taxes were at an effective tax rate of 37.1% in 
the fiscal 2004 and 39.2% in fiscal 2003. Variations in the 
effective tax rate are primarily attributable to the acquisition 
of the Tommy Bahama Group and the relative distribution 
of pre-tax earnings among the various taxing jurisdictions 
in which we operate.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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SEGMENT RESULTS

Menswear Group

The Menswear Group reported a 1.5% decline in net sales 
in fiscal 2004. The decline resulted from a 5.0% decline 
in the average selling price per unit partially offset by 
a 3.7% increase in unit sales. An increase in unit sales to 
the mass merchant distribution channel was largely offset 
by a decline in sales to Sears and the wind-down of our 
Izod Club Golf operations. The decline in shipments to 
Sears was due to initial shipments to stores in fiscal 2003 to 
establish base inventory levels of Lands’ End merchandise 
which did not occur in fiscal 2004. The decline in the aver-
age selling price per unit was due to product/customer mix. 
Increased sales to mass merchants, with a lower average 
selling price per unit, replaced sales to distribution chan-
nels with a higher average selling price per unit.
 Operating income increased from $27.8 million in 
fiscal 2003 to $41.9 million in fiscal 2004. The improve-
ment in operating income was due to lower inventory 
markdowns, improved manufacturing capacity utilization 
and reduced SG&A. The reduction in SG&A was primar-
ily due to the wind-down of Izod Club Golf.

Womenswear Group

The Womenswear Group reported a 3.5% decline in net 
sales in fiscal 2004. The decline in net sales resulted from:
•  The average selling price per unit decline of 3.5% on flat 

unit sales. 
•  Sales to Kmart in fiscal 2003 were approximately 

$8.6 million compared to none in fiscal 2004.
•  Our sales to Wal-Mart also declined in fiscal 2004. 

 We believed that growth in sales and profitability with 
Wal-Mart over the next few quarters would be difficult to 
achieve due to its increasing emphasis on direct sourcing 
and its planned reduction in its offering of women’s apparel. 
These sales declines were partially offset by increased sales 
to other customers in the chain and mass merchant distri-
bution channels. The decline in the average selling price 
per unit was primarily due to the product/customer mix 
within the mass merchant distribution channel.
 Operating income declined 33.1% in fiscal 2004. The 
impact of the decline in net sales on operating income was 
partially offset by improved manufacturing capacity utili-
zation. SG&A was relatively unchanged.

Tommy Bahama Group

The Tommy Bahama Group reported net sales of $369.1 
million for fiscal 2004. Operating results of Tommy 
Bahama have been included since the date of acquisi-
tion and represent the 50 weeks ending May 28, 2004. 
Sales were comprised of wholesale shipments to upscale 
department and specialty stores and retail sales through 
company-owned retail stores and retail/restaurant com-
pounds. Licensing income product categories primarily 
include home furnishings, swimwear, shoes, neckwear and 
watches. At May 28, 2004, Tommy Bahama Group’s oper-
ations included 42 retail stores (including four outlets and 
seven retail/restaurant compounds).
 The Tommy Bahama Group reported operating 
income of $50.6 million, which included $6.6 million 
in amortization of intangible assets due to acquisition 
accounting rules.

Corporate and Other

The Corporate and Other operating loss increased 
$7.3 million from $9.8 million in fiscal 2003 to $17.1 mil-
lion in fiscal 2004. The increase in the operating loss was 
due to increased LIFO inventory accounting charges of 
$5.9 million and increased employment costs of $1.8 mil-
lion. The operating loss in fiscal 2003 included $1.1 million 
of acquisition due diligence costs. The due diligence costs 
relate to Tommy Bahama initial negotiations that had been 
discontinued at that time.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY 

AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary source of revenue and cash flow is our oper-
ating activities in the United States and to some extent 
the United Kingdom. Additionally, subject to the terms 
thereof, we also have access to amounts under our U.S. 
Revolver and U.K. Revolver, each of which are described 
below, when cash inflows are less than cash outflows. We 
may seek to finance future capital investment programs 
through various methods, including, but not limited to, 
cash flow from operations, borrowings under our current 
credit facilities, issuance of additional long-term debt and 
sales of equity securities.
 Our liquidity requirements arise from the funding 
of our working capital needs, which include inventory, 
other operating expenses and accounts receivable, funding 
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of capital expenditures, payment of quarterly dividends, 
repayment of our indebtedness and acquisitions, if any. 
Generally, our product purchases are acquired through 
trade letters of credit which are drawn against our lines of 
credit at the time of shipment of the products and reduce the 
amounts available under our lines of credit when issued.
 Cash and cash equivalents on hand was $6.5 million at 
June 3, 2005 compared to $47.6 million at May 28, 2004.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The decrease in cash was due to the use of cash for the 
acquisition of Ben Sherman in July 2004 as discussed 
above. During fiscal 2005 we generated cash flow from 
operations of $51.6 million. This cash was generated pri-
marily from revenues from the sale of our products net of 
cash paid for the cost of goods sold, general and adminis-
trative operating expenses, interest expense and inventory. 
The decrease in operating cash flows was primarily a result 
of the changes in the working capital accounts of invento-
ries, accounts payable and accrued expenses partially offset 
by the impact of changes in income taxes payable, accounts 
receivable and non-current liabilities, each as discussed 
below. These changes were partially offset by the results of 
operations and cash flows of Ben Sherman.
 Receivables, net were $197.1 million and $176.4 mil-
lion at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, respectively. The 
increase in receivables is primarily a result of approximately 
$25.7 million of receivables of Ben Sherman at June 3, 2005 
partially offset by the impact of the timing of sales during 
the first part of the fourth quarter as compared to the latter 
part of the fourth quarter and the timing of payments by 
customers. Days sales outstanding for our accounts receiv-
able balances, excluding retail receivables, was 60 days at 
June 3, 2005 compared to 55 days at May 28, 2004.
 Inventories were $169.3 million and $116.4 mil-
lion at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, respectively. The 
increase in inventories is primarily the result of approxi-
mately $26.4 million of inventories of Ben Sherman on 
hand at June 3, 2005 and seasonal inventory build-ups for 
anticipated first quarter fiscal 2006 sales and base stock for 
new replenishment programs in our other Menswear busi-
nesses. Also, inventory levels of the Tommy Bahama Group 
increased due to having additional retail stores. Our days 
supply inventory on hand, calculated on a trailing twelve 

month average using a FIFO basis, was 81 days at June 3, 
2005 compared to 74 days at May 28, 2004.
 Current liabilities, which primarily consist of payables 
arising out of our operating activities, were $212.4 million 
and $193.5 million at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, 
respectively. The increase was primarily the result of 
approximately $26.6 million of current liabilities at June 3, 
2005 related to Ben Sherman and an increase in income 
taxes payable partially offset by a decrease in interest pay-
able due to the timing of the semi-annual interest payments 
on our Senior Unsecured Notes, as discussed below which 
require a payment on June 1 and December 1 of each year.
 Deferred income tax liabilities were $77.2 million at 
June 3, 2005 compared to $52.4 million at May 28, 2004 
with the increase primarily resulting from the acquisition 
of Ben Sherman.
 Other non-current liabilities, which primarily con-
sist of deferred rent and deferred compensation amounts, 
were $23.6 million and $11.1 million at June 3, 2005 
and May 28, 2004, respectively. The increase was primar-
ily due to the recognition of deferred rent in the current 
period as well as the deferral of certain compensation pay-
ments to our executives in fiscal 2005.
 During fiscal 2004, we generated cash flow from oper-
ations of $64.8 million. This cash was generated primarily 
from revenues from the sale of our products net of cash paid 
for the cost of goods sold, general and administrative oper-
ating expenses, interest expense and inventory. Working 
capital changes included decreased inventories, increased 
trade payables and increased accrued expenses offset by 
increased accounts receivable. The inventory decline 
occurred in our pre-acquisition businesses. Trade pay-
ables increased primarily due to extended payment terms 
on letter of credit purchasing commitments with suppli-
ers of finished goods. The increase in accrued expenses was 
primarily due to accrued interest on the senior notes. The 
accounts receivable increase was due to the increase in sales 
in the fourth quarter.
 Cash flows from operations in fiscal 2006 should 
be greater than those in the current period as we sell the 
inventory currently on hand and obtain the benefit of a full 
period of operations from Ben Sherman. The cash flows for 
the period are not necessarily indicative of the cash flows 
anticipated for future periods and are subject to seasonality.
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 Our working capital ratio, which is calculated by divid-
ing total current assets by total current liabilities, was 1.85:1 
and 1.84:1 at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, respectively.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

During fiscal 2005, investing activities used $167.8 million 
in cash, consisting of approximately $138.3 million (net of 
cash acquired) for the acquisition of Ben Sherman as well 
as payments in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 of approxi-
mately $5.5 million related to the Tommy Bahama Group 
acquisition. Additionally, approximately $23.5 million 
of capital expenditures were incurred primarily related to 
the build-out of recently opened and currently under con-
struction Tommy Bahama retail stores and restaurants and 
capital expenditures associated with our leased headquar-
ters for our Tommy Bahama Group in Seattle, Washington 
and our Ben Sherman U.S. operations in New York.
 During fiscal 2004, investing activities used $32.1 mil-
lion in cash, principally for the acquisition of the Tommy 
Bahama Group on June 13, 2003 net of the reduction in 
restricted proceeds from the sale of the Senior Unsecured 
Notes during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. Additionally, 
we incurred capital expenditures of $14.1 million primarily 
related to new Tommy Bahama retail stores and computer 
equipment and software purchases.
 Non-current assets including property, plant and 
equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and other non-cur-
rent assets increased primarily as a result of the fiscal 2005 
acquisition of Ben Sherman as well as capital expenditures 
during fiscal 2005 partially offset by the current period 
depreciation and amortization.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

During fiscal 2005, financing activities provided approxi-
mately $74.9 million in cash. Substantially all of these 
proceeds represent the funding from the U.S. Revolver 
to finance the Ben Sherman acquisition in the current 
period partially offset by the $2.8 million paid in the cur-
rent period related to the refinancing of the U.S. Revolver. 
Additionally, certain amounts of cash were provided by the 
issuance of common stock upon the exercise of employee 
stock options. These cash proceeds were partially offset 
by the use of cash to repay certain debt under our U.S. 
Revolver, U.K. Revolver and Seller Notes as well as the pay-
ment of $8.2 million of dividends.

 During fiscal 2004, financing activities used approxi-
mately $9.3 million of cash. This primarily represents 
payment of deferred financing costs of $7.4 million and 
dividends of $6.9 million partially offset by $5.3 million 
of proceeds from the issuance of common stock upon the 
exercise of employee stock options during the year. The 
change in borrowings during fiscal 2004 was not material.
 Dividends per share declared during fiscal 2005 and 
2004 were as follows: 

Fiscal 2005
 Fourth Quarter $ 0.135
 Third Quarter $ 0.135
 Second Quarter $ 0.120
 First Quarter $ 0.120

Fiscal 2004
 Fourth Quarter $ 0.120
 Third Quarter $ 0.120
 Second Quarter $ 0.105
 First Quarter $ 0.105

 On July 11, 2005, our board of directors declared a 
cash dividend of $0.135 per share payable on September 5, 
2005 to shareholders of record on August 22, 2005. That 
dividend is the 181st consecutive quarterly dividend we 
have paid since we became a public company in July 1960. 
We expect to pay dividends in future quarters; however, 
we may decide to discontinue or modify the dividend pay-
ment at any time if we determine that other uses of our 
capital, including, but not limited to, payment of debt 
outstanding or funding of future acquisitions, may be in 
our best interest or if our expectations of future cash flows 
and future cash needs outweigh the ability to pay a divi-
dend. Additionally, we may borrow to fund dividends in 
the short term based on our expectations of operating cash 
flows in future periods. All cash flow from operations will 
not necessarily be paid out as dividends in all periods.
 Debt increased by $93.6 million at June 3, 2005 com-
pared to May 28, 2004 primarily as a result of the borrow-
ings under the U.S. Revolver and Seller Notes to finance 
the acquisition of Ben Sherman.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The table below provides a description of our significant financing arrangements (in thousands) at June 3, 2005:

     Balance

$280 million U.S. Secured Revolving Credit Facility (“U.S. Revolver”), which accrues interest 
 and letter of credit fees based upon a pricing grid which is tied to certain debt ratios (5.31% 
 at June 3, 2005), requires interest payments monthly with principal due at maturity (July 2009), 
 and is collateralized by substantially all the assets of our domestic subsidiaries (1) $ 90,100

12 million Pounds Sterling Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility (“U.K. Revolver”), which 
 accrues interest at the bank’s base rate plus 1.2%, requires interest payments monthly with 
 principal payable on demand or at maturity (July 2006), and is collateralized by substantially 
 all the United Kingdom assets of Ben Sherman (2)  –

$200 million Senior Unsecured Notes (“Senior Unsecured Notes”), which accrue interest at 8.875%, 
 require interest payments semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year with principal 
 due at maturity (June 2011), are subject to certain prepayment penalties and guaranteed by our 
 domestic subsidiaries (3)  198,938

Unsecured Seller Notes (“Seller Notes”), which accrue interest at LIBOR plus 1.2% (6.54% at 
 June 3, 2005) and require interest payments quarterly with principal payable on demand (2)  3,342

Other debt, including capital lease obligations with varying terms and conditions, collateralized 
 by the respective assets  150

Total debt $ 292,530

Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt  3,407

Total long-term debt, less current maturities $ 289,123

(1)  On July 28, 2004, the U.S. Revolver was amended to increase the line of credit from $275 million to $280 million, to eliminate the asset borrowing base 
calculation to determine availability and to adjust the amount that certain lenders were committed to loan, among other changes. Approximately $1.8 million 
of unamortized deferred financing costs were expensed as a result of the amendment, which was included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of 
earnings in fiscal 2005. Additionally, the terms and conditions of certain related agreements were modified in November 2004, including a change to a springing 
lock-box agreement, which resulted in amounts outstanding under the facility requiring classification as long-term debt subsequent to the modification.

(2) The U.K. Revolver and Seller Notes were entered into on July 30, 2004, in connection with the Ben Sherman acquisition.

(3) The Senior Unsecured Notes were sold on May 16, 2003 at a discount of 0.713% ($1.4 million) to yield an effective interest rate of 9.0%.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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 Our lines of credit under the U.S. Revolver and U.K. 
Revolver are used to finance trade letters of credit and 
standby letters of credit as well as provide funding for other 
operating activities and acquisitions. Trade letters of credit 
of $113.0 million and $0.8 million were outstanding under 
our U.S. Revolver and U.K. Revolver, respectively, as of 
June 3, 2005. The net availability under our U.S. Revolver 
and U.K. Revolver was approximately $76.9 million and 
$21.0 million, respectively, as of June 3, 2005.
 The U.S. Revolver and the U.K. Revolver include 
certain debt covenant restrictions that require us or our 
subsidiaries to maintain certain financial ratios that are cus-
tomary for similar facilities. The facilities also include limi-
tations on certain restricted payments such as dividends, 

earn-out payments, and prepayment of debt. To ensure 
compliance with the minimum availability requirement of 
our U.S. Revolver, we sought and obtained the consent of 
our U.S. Revolver bank group to pay our third and fourth 
quarter fiscal 2005 dividends without regard to the avail-
ability requirement. We currently do not anticipate the 
need for a consent to pay dividends in subsequent quarters. 
As of June 3, 2005, we were compliant with all restrictive 
financial covenants related to our debt agreements.
 We expect to fund the payment of the Seller Notes, 
which are due upon demand and expected to be redeemed 
for payment during the first half of fiscal 2006, with bor-
rowings from the U.K. Revolver. Additionally, the U.K. 
Revolver is also due upon demand and expires in July 
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2006. At expiration, we anticipate that we will be able to 
refinance the U.K. Revolver either with the same lender, 
other lenders or under our U.S. Revolver.
 We anticipate that we will be able to satisfy our ongo-
ing cash requirements, which generally consist of working 
capital needs, capital expenditures (primarily for the open-
ing of Tommy Bahama and Ben Sherman retail stores) 
and interest and principal payments on our debt during 
fiscal 2006, primarily from cash on hand and cash flow 
from operations supplemented by borrowings under our 
lines of credit, as necessary. Our need for working capital is 
typically seasonal with the greatest requirements generally 
existing from the late second quarter to early fourth quar-
ter of each year as we build inventory for the spring/sum-
mer season. Our capital needs will depend on many factors 
including our growth rate, the need to finance increased 
inventory levels and the success of our various products.
 If appropriate investment opportunities arise that 
exceed the availability under our existing credit facilities, 

we believe that we will be able to fund such acquisitions 
through additional or refinanced debt facilities or the issu-
ance of additional equity. However, our ability to obtain 
additional borrowings or refinance our credit facilities will 
depend on many factors, including the prevailing market 
conditions, our financial condition and our ability to nego-
tiate favorable terms and conditions. There is no assurance 
that financing would be available on terms that are accept-
able or favorable to us, if at all.
 Our debt to total capitalization ratio was 49% and 
45% at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, respectively. The 
change was primarily a result of the additional debt incurred 
to finance the acquisition of Ben Sherman on July 30, 2004. 
We anticipate that the amount of debt, as well as the ratio of 
debt to total capitalization, will decrease in future periods as 
a result of anticipated cash flow from operations, unless we 
make additional acquisitions or investments.
 The following table summarizes our contractual cash 
obligations, as of June 3, 2005, by future period:

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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 Payments Due by Period

   Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years After 5 years  Total

 ($ in thousands)

Contractual Obligations
 Capital leases $ 65 $ 69 $ 16 $ – $ 150
 Senior Unsecured Notes  –  –  –  200,000  200,000
 Interest on Senior Unsecured Notes  17,750  35,500  35,500  17,750  106,500
 Lines of credit and Seller Notes  3,342  –  90,100  –  93,442
 Operating leases  25,701  49,529  48,223  86,052  209,505
 Minimum royalty  6,170  1,314  606  1,034  9,124
 Letters of credit  113,745  –  –  –  113,745
 Contingent purchase price  5,079  50,000  –  –  55,079

 Total  $ 171,852 $ 136,412 $ 174,445 $ 304,836 $ 787,545

 The above table does not include our interest pay-
ments for our U.S. Revolver as the interest rate and the 
amount that will be outstanding during any fiscal year will 
be dependent upon future events.
 Our anticipated capital expenditures for fiscal 2006 are 
expected to approximate $30 million. These expenditures 
will consist primarily of the continued expansion of our retail 
operations of the Tommy Bahama Group and Ben Sherman 
brand, including the opening of additional retail stores.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have not entered into agreements which meet the defi-
nition of an off balance sheet financing arrangement, other 
than operating leases, and have made no financial commit-
ments to or guarantees with any unconsolidated subsidiar-
ies or special purpose entities.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition 
and results of operations are based upon our consolidated 
financial statements, which have been prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States. The preparation of these financial state-
ments requires us to make estimates and judgements that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, 
and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, 
including those related to receivables, inventories, intan-
gible assets, income taxes, contingencies and litigation and 
certain other accrued expenses. We base our estimates on 
historical experience and on various other assumptions that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different assump-
tions or conditions. We believe that we have appropriately 
applied our critical accounting policies. However, in the 
event that inappropriate assumptions or methods were 
used relating to the critical accounting policies below, our 
consolidated statements of earnings could be misstated.
 The detailed summary of significant accounting 
policies is included in note 1 to our consolidated financial 
statements contained in this report. The following is a brief 
discussion of the more significant accounting policies and 
methods we use.

REVENUE RECOGNITION AND 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Our revenue consists of sales to wholesale customers, 
retail store and restaurant revenues and royalties. We con-
sider revenue realized or realizable and earned when the 
following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an 
agreement exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) our price 
to the buyer is fixed and determinable, and (4) collectibil-
ity is reasonably assured.
 For sales within our wholesale operations, we consider 
a completed purchase order or some form of electronic 
communication from the customer requesting the goods 
persuasive evidence of an agreement. For substantially all 
our wholesale sales, our products are considered delivered 

at the time that the products are shipped from our distribu-
tion centers as substantially all products are sold based on 
FOB shipping point terms. This generally coincides with 
the time that title passes and the risks and rewards of own-
ership have passed to the customer. For certain transactions 
in which the goods do not pass through our distribution 
centers and title and the risks and rewards of ownership 
pass at the time the goods leave the foreign port, revenue is 
recognized at that time. In certain cases in which we retain 
the risk of loss during shipment, revenue recognition does 
not occur until the goods have reached the specified cus-
tomer. Retail store and restaurant revenues are recorded, 
net of estimated returns, at the time of sale to consumers.
 In the normal course of business we offer certain 
discounts or allowances to our wholesale customers. 
Wholesale operations sales are recorded net of such dis-
counts, allowances provided to our customers, advertis-
ing support arrangements not specifically relating to the 
reimbursement for actual advertising expenses by our 
customers and provisions for estimated returns. As cer-
tain allowances and other deductions are not finalized 
until the end of a season, program or other event which 
may not have occurred yet, we estimate such discounts 
and allowances on an ongoing basis considering historical 
and current trends, projected seasonal results and other 
factors. We record the discounts, returns and allowances 
as a reduction to net sales in our consolidated statements 
of earnings.
 In circumstances where we become aware of a spe-
cific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations, 
a specific reserve for bad debts is taken as a reduction to 
accounts receivable to reduce the net recognized receivable 
to the amount reasonably expected to be collected. Such 
amounts are written off at the time that the amounts are 
not considered collectible. For all other customers, we rec-
ognize reserves for bad debts and uncollectible chargebacks 
based on our historical collection experience, the financial 
condition of our customers, an evaluation of current eco-
nomic conditions and anticipated trends. We record such 
charges and write-offs to selling, general and administra-
tive expenses in our consolidated statements of earnings.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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INVENTORIES

For segment reporting, inventory is carried at the lower of 
FIFO cost or market, with all adjustments being charged 
to operations in the period in which the facts giving rise to 
the adjustments become known. We continually evaluate 
the composition of our inventories for identification of dis-
tressed inventory. For wholesale inventory, we estimate the 
amount of goods that we will not be able to sell in the nor-
mal course of business and write down the value of these 
goods. For retail inventory, we provide an allowance for 
shrinkage and goods expected to be sold below cost.
 These estimates are based on our historical experience 
as well as an assessment of the inventory quantity, quality 
and mix, consumer and retailer preferences and the current 
market conditions.
 For consolidated financial reporting, significant por-
tions of our inventories are valued at the lower of LIFO 
cost or market. LIFO inventory calculations are made on 
a legal entity basis which does not correspond to our seg-
ment definitions. Therefore, LIFO inventory accounting 
adjustments are not allocated to the respective operating 
segments. As part of LIFO accounting, markdowns for 
inventory valued at LIFO cost are deferred until the period 
in which the goods are sold. However, in non-routine 
circumstances, such as discontinuance of a product line, 
markdowns below the allocated LIFO reserve are not 
deferred. Both the LIFO reserve and the markdown defer-
ral are reflected in our corporate and other financial infor-
mation in note 11 to our consolidated financial statements 
and in the results of operations in our management’s dis-
cussion and analysis.

GOODWILL, NET

Goodwill is recognized as the amount that the cost to 
acquire a company or group of assets exceeds the fair value 
of assets acquired less any liabilities assumed at acquisi-
tion. Such goodwill is allocated to the respective reporting 
unit at the time of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized 
but instead evaluated for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the 
goodwill might be impaired. The evaluation of the recover-
ability of goodwill includes valuations of each applicable 
underlying business using fair value techniques and mar-

ket comparables which may include a discounted cash flow 
analysis or an independent appraisal. If this analysis indi-
cates an impairment of goodwill balances, the impairment 
is recognized in the consolidated financial statements. No 
impairment of goodwill was identified during fiscal 2005, 
2004 or 2003.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

At acquisition, we estimate and record the fair value of pur-
chased intangible assets, which primarily consist of trade-
marks and trade names, license agreements and customer 
relationships. The fair values of these intangible assets are 
estimated based on management’s assessment as well as 
independent third party appraisals in some cases.
 Amortization of intangible assets with finite lives, 
which consist of license agreements, customer relationships 
and covenants not to compete, is recognized over their esti-
mated useful lives using a method of amortization that 
reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the 
intangible assets are consumed or otherwise realized, which 
is up to 15 years for some intangible assets. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are reviewed for impairment periodically if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the car-
rying amount may not be recoverable. If expected future 
undiscounted cash flows from operations are less than their 
carrying amounts, an asset is determined to be impaired 
and a loss is recorded for the amount by which the carrying 
value of the asset exceeds its fair value. During fiscal 2005, 
2004 and 2003, no material impairments relating to intan-
gible assets with finite lives was recognized.
 Trademarks and other intangible assets with indefinite 
lives are not amortized but instead evaluated for impair-
ment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances 
indicate that the intangible asset might be impaired. The 
evaluation of the recoverability of intangible assets with 
indefinite lives includes valuations based on a discounted 
cash flow analysis or an independent appraisal. If this anal-
ysis indicates an impairment of an intangible asset with 
an indefinite useful life, the amount of the impairment is 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. No 
impairment of intangible assets with indefinite lives was 
identified during fiscal 2005, 2004 or 2003.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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INCOME TAXES

We recognize deferred tax liabilities and assets based 
on the difference between the financial and tax bases 
of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected 
to apply to taxable income in the period in which such 
amounts are expected to be realized or settled. Our policy 
is to recognize net deferred tax assets, whose realization 
is dependent on taxable earnings in future years, when 
a greater than 50 percent probability exists that the tax 
benefits will actually be realized sometime in the future 
and provide for a reserve for items when a greater than 
50% probability exists that a tax deduction taken would 
be disallowed under examination by the taxing authority. 
No material valuation allowances have been recognized 
in our financial statements.
 We have undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 
of approximately $28 million which have been provided 
for in our income tax provision as the earnings are not con-
sidered permanently invested outside of the United States. 
If the earnings were repatriated to the United States, the 
earnings would be subject to United States taxation at that 
time. The amount of deferred tax liability recognized asso-
ciated with the undistributed earnings was approximately 
$3 million at June 3, 2005, representing the approximate 
excess of the United States tax liability over the creditable 
foreign taxes paid that would result from a full remittance 
of undistributed earnings.
 We receive a United States income tax benefit upon 
the exercise of the majority of our employee stock options. 
The benefit is equal to the difference between the fair mar-
ket value of the stock at the time of the exercise and the 
option price, times the approximate tax rate. We record 
the benefit associated with the exercise of employee stock 
options as a reduction to current income taxes payable and 
a credit directly to shareholders’ equity in our consolidated 
balance sheets.

SEASONALITY

Although our various product lines are sold on a year-
round basis, the demand for specific products or styles may 
be highly seasonal. For example, the demand for golf and 
Tommy Bahama products is higher in the spring and sum-
mer seasons. Products are sold prior to each of our retail 
selling seasons, including spring, summer, fall and holiday. 

As the timing of product shipments and other events affect-
ing the retail business may vary, results for any particular 
quarter may not be indicative of results for the full year. 
The percentage of net sales distribution by quarter for fis-
cal 2005 was 20%, 24%, 27% and 29%, respectively, and 
the net earnings by quarter for fiscal 2005 were 13%, 18%, 
28% and 41%, respectively, which may not be indicative 
of the distribution in future years.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board, or FASB, issued FASB Statement No. 151 
“Inventory Costs, an Amendment of ARB No. 43 
Chapter 4” (“FAS 151”). FAS 151 is applicable for 
inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning 
after June 15, 2005. FAS 151 requires that items such as 
idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, 
and re-handling be recognized as current-period charges 
rather than being included in inventory regardless of 
whether the costs meet the criterion of abnormal as 
defined in ARB 43. We do not believe the adoption of 
FAS 151 will have a material impact on us upon adop-
tion in fiscal 2006 as we have historically expensed such 
costs as incurred.
 In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB 
Statement No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based 
Payment: an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 
and 95” (“FAS 123R”). FAS 123R is applicable for fiscal 
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. FAS 123R sets 
accounting requirements for “share-based” compensation 
to employees, requires companies to recognize in the state-
ment of earnings the grant-date fair value of stock options 
and other equity-based compensation issued to employ-
ees and disallows the use of the intrinsic value method of 
accounting for stock compensation. We are currently eval-
uating the impact that FAS 123R will have on our results 
of operations upon adoption in fiscal 2007.
 In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act 
of 2004 (the “Act”) was signed into law by the President. 
Among other provisions, the Act provides for a special 
one-time tax deduction of 85% of certain foreign earn-
ings that are repatriated in either an enterprise’s last tax year 
that began before the enactment date or the first tax year 
that begins during the one-year period beginning on the 
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date of enactment. As a result of execution of the Act, the 
accounting treatment of such unremitted earnings that are 
expected to be repatriated must be considered in evaluating 
an entity’s tax provision. We are currently evaluating the 
appropriate action with respect to the repatriation provi-
sion. As we have not completed this assessment, no impact 
of repatriation has been recognized in our fiscal 2005 tax 
provision or consolidated financial statements. We expect 
to have this evaluation completed during fiscal 2006.

INTEREST RATE RISK

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest 
rates on our indebtedness, which could impact our finan-
cial condition and results of operations in future periods. 
Our objective is to limit the impact of interest rate changes 
on earnings and cash flow, primarily through a mix of fixed 
and variable rate debt. This assessment also considers our 
need for flexibility in our borrowing arrangements result-
ing from the seasonality of our business, among other fac-
tors. We continuously monitor interest rates to consider 
the sources and terms of our borrowing facilities in order 
to determine whether we have achieved our interest rate 
management objectives.
 As of June 3, 2005, approximately $93.4 million of 
debt outstanding (or 32% of our total debt) was subject 
to variable interest rates, with a weighted average rate of 
approximately 5.35% at June 3, 2005. Our average vari-
able rate borrowings for fiscal 2005 were $104.4 million, 
with an average interest rate of 4.63% during the year. Our 
lines of credit are based on variable interest rates in order 
to take advantage of the lower rates available in the current 
interest rate environment and to provide the necessary bor-
rowing flexibility required. To the extent that the amounts 
outstanding under our variable rate lines of credit change, 
our exposure to changes in interest rates would also change. 
If the fiscal 2005 average interest rate increased by 100 
basis points, our interest expense would have been approxi-
mately $0.5 million higher during the fiscal year.
 At June 3, 2005, we had approximately $199.1 million 
of fixed rate debt and capital lease obligations outstanding 
with substantially all the debt having an effective interest 
rate of 9.0% and maturing in June 2011. Such agreements 
may result in higher interest expense than could be obtained 
under variable interest rate arrangements in certain periods 

of lower variable interest rates, but are primarily intended 
to provide long-term financing of our capital structure 
and minimize our exposure to increases in interest rates. A 
change in the market interest rate impacts the net financial 
instrument position of our fixed rate debt but has no impact 
on interest incurred or cash flows.
 None of our debt was entered into for speculative 
purposes. We generally do not engage in hedging activities 
with respect to our interest rate risk and do not enter into 
such transactions on a speculative basis.

TRADE POLICY RISK

Pursuant to the 1994 Agreement on Textiles and Clothing, 
quotas among World Trade Organization (“WTO”) mem-
ber countries, including the United States, were eliminated 
on January 1, 2005. As a result, the international textile and 
apparel trade is undergoing a significant realignment which 
is changing our sourcing patterns, could disrupt our supply 
chain and could put us at a disadvantage to our competitors.
 In addition, notwithstanding quota elimination, 
under the terms of China’s WTO accession agreement, the 
United States and other WTO members may re-impose 
quotas on specific categories of products in the event it is 
determined that imports from China have surged or may 
surge and are threatening to create a market disruption for 
such categories of products (so called “safeguard quota”). 
Pursuant to this authority both the United States and the 
European Union have re-imposed quotas on several impor-
tant product categories from China and may re-impose 
quotas on additional categories in the future. The impo-
sition of these safeguard quotas could cause disruption in 
our supply chain.
 Furthermore, under long-standing statutory author-
ity applicable to imported goods in general, the United 
States may unilaterally impose additional duties: (i) when 
imported merchandise is sold at less than fair value and 
causes material injury, or threatens to cause material injury, 
to the domestic industry producing a comparable product 
(generally known as “anti-dumping” duties); or (ii) when 
foreign producers receive certain types of governmental 
subsidies, and when the importation of their subsidized 
goods causes material injury, or threatens to cause material 
injury, to the domestic industry producing a comparable 
product (generally known as “countervailing” duties). The 
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imposition of anti-dumping or countervailing duties on 
products we import would increase the cost of those prod-
ucts to us. We may not be able to pass on any such cost 
increase to our customers. The recently adopted Central 
American-Dominican Republic Free Trade Agreement as 
well as several other pending free trade agreements could 
put us at a disadvantage to some of our competitors.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

To the extent that we have assets and liabilities, as well as 
operations, denominated in foreign currencies that are not 
hedged, we are subject to foreign currency transaction gains 
and losses. We do not hold or issue any derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes.
 We receive United States dollars for substantially all 
of our product sales, except for Ben Sherman sales in the 
United Kingdom and Europe and certain licensing fees 
earned in foreign countries. We view our net investment 
in the Ben Sherman United Kingdom subsidiary, which 
has a functional currency of pounds sterling, as long-term. 
As a result, we generally do not hedge this investment. 
Ben Sherman sales that were not denominated in United 
States dollars totaled $114.4 million during fiscal 2005, 
which represented approximately 9% of our total sales for 
fiscal 2005. With the dollar trading at a weaker position 
than it has historically traded (average rate of 1.86 for the 
period since our acquisition of Ben Sherman), a strength-
ening United States dollar could result in lower levels of 
sales in the consolidated statements of earnings in future 
periods, although the sales in pounds sterling could be 
equal to or greater than amounts as previously reported.
 Substantially all inventory purchases from contract 
manufacturers throughout the world are denominated in 
United States dollars. Purchase prices for our products may 
be impacted by fluctuations in the exchange rate between 
the United States dollar and the local currencies (e.g. the 
Chinese Yuan) of the contract manufacturers, which may 
have the effect of increasing our cost of goods sold in the 
future. Due to the number of currencies involved and the 
fact that not all foreign currencies react in the same manner 
against the United States dollar, we cannot quantify in any 
meaningful way the potential effect of such fluctuations on 
future income. However, we do not believe that exchange 
rate fluctuations will have a material impact on our inven-
tory costs in future periods.

 We may from time to time purchase United States 
dollar forward exchange contracts to hedge against changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates, but at June 3, 2005, 
we have not entered into any such agreements that have 
not been settled. When such contracts are outstanding, the 
contracts are marked to market with the offset being rec-
ognized in our consolidated statement of earnings or other 
comprehensive income depending upon whether the trans-
action qualifies as a hedge in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States.

COMMODITY AND INFLATION RISK

We are affected by inflation and changing prices primarily 
through the purchase of raw materials and finished goods 
and increased operating costs to the extent that any such 
fluctuations are not reflected by adjustments in the selling 
prices of our products timely, or at all. Also, in recent years, 
there has been deflationary pressure on selling prices in our 
private label businesses. While we have been successful to 
some extent in offsetting such deflationary pressures through 
product improvements and lower costs, if deflationary price 
trends outpace our ability to obtain further price reduc-
tions, our profitability may be affected. Inflation/deflation 
risks are managed by each business unit through selective 
price increases when possible, productivity improvements 
and cost containment initiatives. We do not enter into sig-
nificant long-term sales or purchase contracts and we do not 
engage in hedging activities with respect to such risk.
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OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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 June 3, 2005 May 28, 2004
  ($ in thousands)

ASSETS

Current Assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,499 $ 47,569
 Receivables, net  197,094  176,367
 Inventories  169,296  116,410
 Prepaid expenses  20,506  16,475

   Total current assets  393,395  356,821
Property, plant and equipment, net  65,051  51,826
Goodwill, net  188,563  115,426
Intangible assets, net  234,854  147,333
Other non-current assets, net  24,014  23,411

   Total Assets $ 905,877 $ 694,817

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
 Trade accounts payable $ 105,992 $ 100,813
 Accrued compensation  31,043  33,113
 Other accrued expenses  30,890  30,440
 Additional acquisition cost payable  25,754  22,779
 Dividends payable  2,278  1,946
 Income taxes payable  13,085  4,294
 Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt  3,407  98

   Total current liabilities  212,449  193,483
Long-term debt, less current maturities  289,123  198,814
Other non-current liabilities  23,562  11,124
Deferred income taxes  77,242  52,419
Commitments and contingencies  –  –
Shareholders’ Equity:
 Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 30,000 authorized and none issued and 
  outstanding at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004  –  –
 Common stock, $1.00 par value; 60,000 authorized and 16,884 issued and 
  outstanding at June 3, 2005; and 60,000 authorized and 16,215 issued 
  and outstanding at May 28, 2004  16,884  16,215
 Additional paid-in capital  45,918  23,673
 Retained earnings  240,401  199,089
 Accumulated other comprehensive income  298  –

   Total Shareholders’ Equity  303,501  238,977

   Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 905,877 $ 694,817

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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  Year Ended
 June 3, 2005 May 28, 2004 May 30, 2003
  ($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales $ 1,313,609 $ 1,116,552 $ 764,602
Cost of goods sold  875,355  776,108  604,891

Gross profit  438,254  340,444  159,711
Selling, general and administrative  336,608  251,836  124,285
Amortization of intangible assets  8,978  6,709  77

     345,586  258,545  124,362
Royalties and other operating income  12,059  5,114  –

Operating income  104,727  87,013  35,349
Interest expense, net  29,147  23,913  1,935

Earnings before income taxes  75,580  63,100  33,414
Income taxes  25,753  23,384  13,087

Net earnings $ 49,827 $ 39,716 $ 20,327

Earnings per common share:      
 Basic  $ 2.97 $ 2.47 $ 1.35
 Diluted $ 2.87 $ 2.38 $ 1.34

Weighted average common shares outstanding:      
 Basic   16,788  16,100  15,035
 Dilutive impact of options, earn-out shares and restricted shares  562  599  108

 Diluted  17,350  16,699  15,143

Dividends per common share $ 0.51 $ 0.45 $ 0.42

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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       Accumulated
     Additional  Other
    Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive
    Stock Capital Earnings Income Total
    ($ in thousands)

Balance, May 31, 2002 $ 15,030 $ 7,100 $ 153,071 $ – $ 175,201
 Net earnings  –  –  20,327  –  20,327
 Shares issued under stock plans, 
  net of tax benefit  14  137  –  –  151
 Cash dividends  –  –  (6,314)  –  (6,314)

Balance, May 30, 2003 $ 15,044 $ 7,237 $ 167,084  – $ 189,365
 Net earnings  –  –  39,716  –  39,716
 Shares issued under stock plans, 
  net of tax benefit  395  7,212  (426)  –  7,181
 Stock issued for acquisition  776  9,224  –  –  10,000
 Cash dividends  –  –  (7,285)  –  (7,285)

Balance, May 28, 2004 $ 16,215 $ 23,673 $ 199,089  – $ 238,977
 Comprehensive income:          –
  Net earnings  –  –  49,827  –  49,827
  Unrealized gain on foreign currency 
   translation, net of tax of $0.2 million  –  –  –  298  298

  Total comprehensive income          50,125
 Shares issued under stock plans, 
  net of tax benefit  184  3,879  –  –  4,063
 Compensation expense for stock awards  –  970  –  –  970
 Stock issued for acquisition  485  17,396  –  –  17,881
 Cash dividends  –  –  (8,515)  –  (8,515)
Balance, June 3, 2005 $ 16,884 $ 45,918 $ 240,401 $ 298 $ 303,501

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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  Year Ended
 June 3, 2005 May 28, 2004 May 30, 2003
  ($ in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net earnings $ 49,827 $ 39,716 $ 20,327
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash 
 provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation  13,499  11,702  5,860
  Amortization of intangible assets  8,978  6,709  77
  Amortization of deferred financing costs and bond discount  4,439  2,654  50
  (Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (181)  (637)  462
  Equity income  (479)  (321)  –
  Deferred income taxes  (4,014)  (2,379)  (2,371)
Changes in working capital:
 Receivables  4,994  (36,354)  (7,106)
 Inventories  (26,682)  15,992  (19,793)
 Prepaid expenses  (1,423)  1,973  (1,143)
 Trade accounts payable  54  18,228  15,711
 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  (16,677)  4,411  13,617
 Stock option income tax benefit  1,566  1,895  27
 Income taxes payable  8,857  879  2,551
Other non-current assets  (3,576)  (5,171)  (649)
Other non-current liabilities  12,455  5,500  –
   Net cash provided by operating activities  51,637  64,797  27,620
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

 Acquisition – net of cash acquired  (143,727)  (222,737)  –
 Decrease (increase) in restricted cash in escrow  –  204,986  (204,986)
 Investment in deferred compensation plan  (1,004)  (1,842)  –
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (23,544)  (14,143)  (2,051)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  496  1,675  947
   Net cash used in investing activities  (167,779)  (32,061)  (206,090)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

 Repayment of financing arrangements  (542,473)  (135,555)  (255)
 Proceeds from financing arrangements  624,861  135,345  198,581
 Deferred financing costs paid  (2,766)  (7,416)  (7,167)
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock  3,471  5,286  124
 Dividends on common stock  (8,184)  (6,918)  (6,313)
   Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  74,909  (9,258)  184,970
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (41,233)  23,478  6,500
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash and cash equivalents  163  –  –
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year  47,569  24,091  17,591
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year $ 6,499 $ 47,569 $ 24,091

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing 
 and financing activities:
  Accrual for additional acquisition cost $ 25,754 $ 22,779 $ –
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
 Cash paid for:
  Interest, net $ 33,531 $ 13,124 $ 1,457
  Income taxes $ 21,196 $ 22,461 $ 2,353
See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTE 1. 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITY

Oxford Industries, Inc. was founded in 1942. We are a pro-
ducer and marketer of branded and private label apparel 
for men, women and children and operator of restaurants 
and retail stores. We provide retailers and consumers with 
a wide variety of apparel products and services to suit their 
individual needs.

FISCAL YEAR

We operate and report our results of operations using a 
52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Friday nearest May 31. 
As used in these financial statements, fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 
and fiscal 2003 refer to our fiscal years ended on June 3, 
2005, May 28, 2004 and May 30, 2003, respectively. Fiscal 
2005 includes operations for a 53-week period, whereas 
fiscal 2004 and 2003 each include a 52-week period.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of Oxford Industries, Inc. and any other entities in which we 
have a controlling financial interest, including our wholly-
owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries, or entities that 
meet the definition of a variable interest entity, of which we 
are deemed to be the primary beneficiary. In determining 
whether a controlling financial interest exists, we consider 
ownership of voting interests, as well as other rights of the 
investors. All significant intercompany accounts and trans-
actions are eliminated in consolidation.
 We account for investments in joint ventures in which 
we exercise significant influence, but do not control and 
have not been determined to be the primary beneficiary, 
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity 
method of accounting, original investments are recorded 
at cost, and are subsequently adjusted for contributions, 
distributions and the investor’s share of income or losses 
of the joint ventures. Allocations of income and loss and 
distributions by the joint ventures are made in accordance 
with the terms of the individual joint venture agreements. 
Our investment in joint ventures accounted for under 
the equity method are included in other assets, net in our 
consolidated balance sheets and the related income (loss) 

is included in royalties and other operating income in our 
consolidated statements of earnings. Our total investment 
in joint ventures as of June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004 was 
$2.6 million and $2.1 million, respectively. We account for 
the following investments using the equity method.

Joint Venture   Ownership Interest

Oxford Sainty Garment 
 Manufacturing Limited   49%
Paradise Shoe Company, LLC   50%

REVENUE RECOGNITION AND 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Our revenue consists of sales to wholesale customers, retail 
store and restaurant revenues and royalties. We consider rev-
enue realized or realizable and earned when the following cri-
teria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, 
(2) delivery has occurred, (3) our price to the buyer is fixed 
and determinable, and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured.
 For sales within our wholesale operations, we consider 
a completed purchase order or some form of electronic 
communication from the customer requesting the goods 
persuasive evidence of an agreement. For substantially all 
our wholesale sales, our products are considered delivered 
at the time that the products are shipped from our distribu-
tion centers as substantially all products are sold based on 
FOB shipping point terms. This generally coincides with 
the time that title passes and the risks and rewards of own-
ership have passed to the customer. For certain transactions 
in which the goods do not pass through our distribution 
centers and title and the risks and rewards of ownership 
pass at the time the goods leave the foreign port, revenue is 
recognized at that time. In certain cases in which we retain 
the risk of loss during shipment, revenue recognition does 
not occur until the goods have reached the specified cus-
tomer. Retail store and restaurant revenues are recorded, 
net of estimated returns, at the time of sale to consumers.
 In the normal course of business we offer certain dis-
counts or allowances to our wholesale customers. Wholesale 
operations’ sales are recorded net of such discounts, allow-
ances provided to our customers, advertising support 
arrangements not specifically relating to the reimburse-
ment for actual advertising expenses by our customers and 
provisions for estimated returns. As certain allowances and 
other deductions are not finalized until the end of a season, 
program or other event which may not have occurred yet, 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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we estimate such discounts and allowances on an ongoing 
basis considering historical and current trends, projected 
seasonal results and other factors. We record the discounts, 
returns and allowances as a reduction to net sales in our 
consolidated statements of earnings.
 In circumstances where we become aware of a specific 
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations, a spe-
cific reserve for bad debts is taken as a reduction to accounts 
receivable to reduce the net recognized receivable to the 
amount reasonably expected to be collected. Such amounts 
are written off at the time that the amounts are not con-
sidered collectible. For all other customers, we recognize 
reserves for bad debts and uncollectible chargebacks based 
on our historical collection experience, the financial condi-
tion of our customers, an evaluation of current economic 
conditions and anticipated trends. We record such charges 
and write-offs to selling, general and administrative expenses 
in our consolidated statements of earnings.
 Royalties, which are based on a percentage of the 
licensee’s actual net sales or minimum net sales, are recorded 
based upon contractually guaranteed minimum levels 
and adjusted as sales data is received from licensees. We 
may receive initial payments for the grant of license rights, 
which are recognized as revenue over the term of the license 
agreement. Such income is included in royalties and other 
income in our consolidated statements of earnings.

COST OF GOODS SOLD

We include in cost of goods sold all manufacturing, sourcing 
and procurement costs and expenses incurred prior to or in 
association with the receipt of finished goods at our distribu-
tion facilities. These costs principally include product cost, 
inbound freight charges, import costs, purchasing costs, 
internal transfer costs, direct labor, manufacturing overhead, 
as well as insurance, quotas, duty, brokers’ fees and consoli-
dators’ fees. For retail operations, in-bound freight from our 
warehouse to our own retail stores is also included.
 Our gross margins may not be directly comparable to 
those of our competitors, as statement of earnings classifi-
cations of certain expenses may vary by company.

SELLING, GENERAL AND 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

We include in selling, general and administrative expenses, 
costs incurred subsequent to the receipt of finished goods 

at our distribution facilities, such as the cost of inspection, 
stocking, warehousing, picking and packing, and shipping 
and handling of goods for delivery to customers. Selling, 
general and administrative expenses also include product 
design costs, selling costs, royalty costs, advertising, pro-
motion and marketing expenses, professional fees, other 
general and administrative expenses and other corporate 
overhead costs. Additionally, all costs associated with the 
operations of our retail stores and restaurants are included 
in selling, general and administrative expenses.
 Distribution network costs, including shipping and 
handling, are included as a component of selling, general 
and administrative expenses. In fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
distribution network costs, including shipping and han-
dling, were $33.1 million, $23.5 million and $16.6 million, 
respectively. We generally classify amounts billed to custom-
ers for shipping and handling fees as revenues and classify 
costs related to shipping in selling, general and administra-
tive expenses in our consolidated statements of earnings.
 All costs associated with advertising, promoting and 
marketing of our products are expensed during the periods 
when the activities take place. Costs associated with coop-
erative advertising programs under which we agree to make 
general contributions to the customers’ advertising and 
promotional funds are recorded as a reduction to net sales 
as recognized. If we negotiate a plan and share in the cost 
for an advertising plan that is for specific ads run to market 
specific products purchased by the customer from us, and 
the customer is required to provide proof that the advertise-
ment was run, such costs are recognized as selling, general 
and administrative. Advertising, promotions and market-
ing expenses included in selling, general and administrative 
expense in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $26.7 million, 
$15.4 million and $8.2 million.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

We consider cash equivalents to be short-term investments 
with original maturities of three months or less for purposes 
of our consolidated statements of cash flows. Restricted 
cash refers to cash deposits held in escrow received from our 
senior notes offering completed in May 2003, the proceeds 
of which were restricted and could only be used to complete 
the acquisition of the Tommy Bahama Group in June 2003. 
Restricted cash is not considered a cash equivalent for pur-
poses of our consolidated statements of cash flows.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INVENTORIES

For segment reporting, inventory is carried at the lower of 
FIFO cost or market with all adjustments being charged 
to operations in the period in which the facts giving rise to 
the adjustments become known. We continually evaluate 
the composition of our inventories for identification of dis-
tressed inventory. For wholesale inventory, we estimate the 
amount of goods that we will not be able to sell in the normal 
course of business and write down the value of these goods. 
For retail inventory, we provide an allowance for shrinkage 
and goods expected to be sold below cost. These estimates 
are based on our historical experience as well as an assess-
ment of the inventory quantity, quality and mix, consumer 
and retailer preferences and the current market conditions.
 For consolidated financial reporting, significant por-
tions of our inventories are valued at the lower of LIFO 
cost or market. LIFO inventory calculations are made on a 
legal entity basis which does not correspond to our segment 
definitions. Therefore, LIFO inventory accounting adjust-
ments are not allocated to the respective operating segments. 
As part of LIFO accounting, markdowns for inventory 
valued at LIFO cost are deferred until the period in which 
the goods are sold. However, in non routine circumstances, 
such as discontinuance of a product line, markdowns below 
the allocated LIFO reserve are not deferred. Both the LIFO 
reserve and the markdown deferral are reflected in our cor-
porate and other financial information in note 11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation. Additions are capitalized while 
repair and maintenance costs are charged to operations as 
incurred. Depreciation is calculated using both straight-
line and accelerated methods generally over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings and improvements 7 - 50 years
Machinery and equipment 3 - 15 years
Fixtures and equipment 3 - 10 years
Software 3 - 4 years
Autos and trucks 2 - 6 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of remaining life
    of the asset or lease term

 Property, plant and equipment are reviewed periodi-
cally for impairment if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
If expected future undiscounted cash flows from operations 

are less than their carrying amounts, an asset is determined 
to be impaired and a loss is recorded for the amount by 
which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. 
During fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, no material impair-
ments of property, plant and equipment were recorded.

GOODWILL, NET

Goodwill is recognized as the amount that the cost to 
acquire a company or group of assets exceeds the fair value 
of assets acquired less any liabilities assumed at acquisition. 
Such goodwill is allocated to the respective reporting unit 
at the time of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized but 
instead evaluated for impairment annually or more fre-
quently if events or circumstances indicate that the good-
will might be impaired. The evaluation of the recoverability 
of goodwill includes valuations of each applicable under-
lying business using fair value techniques and market 
comparables which may include a discounted cash flow 
analysis or an independent appraisal. If this analysis indi-
cates an impairment of goodwill balances, the impairment 
is recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
 In fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we tested for impair-
ment of goodwill on the last day of the first quarter. In fiscal 
2005, we also tested for impairment as of the first day of 
the fourth quarter. No impairment of goodwill was iden-
tified during fiscal 2005, 2004 or 2003. In future years, 
we intend to test for impairment as of the first day of the 
fourth quarter primarily due to the timing of our annual 
budgeting process, which is used in estimating future cash 
flows for the analysis.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

At acquisition, we estimate and record the fair value of pur-
chased intangible assets, which primarily consist of trade-
marks and trade names, license agreements and customer 
relationships. The fair values of these intangible assets are 
estimated based on management’s assessment as well as 
independent third party appraisals in some cases.
 Amortization of intangible assets with finite lives, 
which consist of license agreements, customer relationships 
and covenants not to compete, is recognized over their 
estimated useful lives using a method of amortization that 
reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the 
intangible assets are consumed or otherwise realized, which 
is up to 15 years for some intangible assets. Intangible assets 
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with finite lives are reviewed for impairment periodically 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the car-
rying amount may not be recoverable. If expected future 
undiscounted cash flows from operations are less than their 
carrying amounts, an asset is determined to be impaired 
and a loss is recorded for the amount by which the carrying 
value of the asset exceeds its fair value. During fiscal 2005, 
2004 and 2003, no material impairments relating to intan-
gible assets with finite lives was recognized.
 Trademarks and other intangible assets with indefinite 
lives are not amortized but instead evaluated for impair-
ment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances 
indicate that the intangible asset might be impaired. The 
evaluation of the recoverability of intangible assets with 
indefinite lives includes valuations based on a discounted 
cash flow analysis or an independent appraisal. If this anal-
ysis indicates an impairment of an intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life, the amount of the impairment is rec-
ognized in the consolidated financial statements.
 In fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we tested for impair-
ment of trademarks and other intangible assets with indef-
inite lives on the last day of the first quarter. In fiscal 2005, 
we also tested for impairment as of the first day of the 
fourth quarter. No impairment of intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives was identified during fiscal 2005, 
2004 or 2003. In future years, we intend to test for impair-
ment as of the first day of the fourth quarter primarily due 
to timing of our annual budgeting process, which is used 
in estimating future cash flows for the analysis.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS, NET

Amounts included in prepaid expense primarily consist of 
prepaid operating expenses including rent, taxes and insur-
ance. Other non-current assets primarily consist of invest-
ments in joint ventures which are accounted for on the 
equity method, deferred financing costs and investments 
related to our deferred compensation plans.
 Deferred financing costs are amortized on a straight 
line basis, which approximates an effective interest 
method over the life of the related debt. Amortization 
expense for deferred financing costs, which is included in 
interest expense in the consolidated statements of earnings 
was $4.3 million, $2.5 million and $0.1 million during 
fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In fiscal 2005, 

approximately $1.8 million of unamortized deferred 
financing costs were written off as a result of an amend-
ment to certain of our financing arrangements and were 
included in the amortization expense amount above.
 Deferred license fees are amortized over the life of the 
related license agreement.
 Investments held for our deferred compensation plans 
consist of marketable securities and life insurance contracts. 
These securities approximate the participant-directed 
investment selections underlying the deferred compensa-
tion liabilities. These investments, some of which are held 
in an irrevocable trust, are recorded at fair value based on 
quoted prices in an active market. Realized and unrealized 
gains and losses on these investments are recorded in the 
consolidated statements of earnings and substantially off-
set the changes in deferred compensation liabilities to par-
ticipants resulting from changes in market values.

TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED 

COMPENSATION AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Liabilities for trade accounts payable, accrued compensa-
tion and accrued expenses are carried at cost which is the 
fair value of the consideration expected to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received whether or not billed 
to us. Insurance accruals for workers compensation and 
employee insurance, which are included in other accrued 
expenses in our consolidated balance sheets, include esti-
mated settlements for known claims, as well as accruals 
for estimates of incurred but not reported claims based on 
claims experience and statistical trends.
 We are subject to certain claims and assessments related 
to legal, environmental or tax items in the ordinary course 
of business. For those matters where it is probable that we 
have incurred a loss and the loss, or range of loss, can be rea-
sonably estimated, we have recorded reserves in the consoli-
dated financial statements. In other instances, because of 
the uncertainties related to both the probable outcome and 
amount or range of loss, we are unable to make a reasonable 
estimate of a liability, if any, and have not recorded a reserve. 
As additional information becomes available, we adjust our 
assessment and estimates of such liabilities accordingly.

DIVIDENDS

Dividends are accrued at the time that the dividend is 
declared by our board of directors.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income includes all changes in equity 
from non-owner sources such as foreign currency transla-
tion adjustments. No other items were recorded in other 
comprehensive income during fiscal 2005, 2004 or 2003.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Assets and liabilities denominated in amounts other than 
the functional currency are remeasured into the functional 
currency at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance 
sheet date and income and expenses are remeasured at the 
average rates of exchange prevailing during the reporting 
period. The impact of any such remeasurement is recog-
nized in our consolidated statements of earnings in the 
respective period. These gains and losses are immaterial for 
fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003. The financial statements of our 
subsidiaries for which the functional currency is a currency 
other than the United States dollar are translated to United 
States dollars at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance 
sheet date for the balance sheet and at the average rates of 
exchange prevailing during the period for the statements of 
earnings. The impact of such translation is recognized in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated other com-
prehensive income in our consolidated balance sheets.

FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS

We are exposed to foreign exchange risk when we pur-
chase or sell goods in foreign currencies. We may enter into 
short-term forward foreign exchange contracts in the ordi-
nary course of business to mitigate the risk associated with 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations related to purchases of 
United States dollar denominated inventory by certain 
of our foreign subsidiaries. To date our forward foreign 
exchange contracts have not been designated as hedges for 
accounting purposes, thus the changes in fair value of the 
derivative instruments are included in net earnings. Such 
contracts have not been entered into for speculative pur-
poses. Unrealized gains and losses on outstanding foreign 
currency exchange contracts used to mitigate currency risk 
on future purchases are included in earnings as a compo-
nent of selling, general and administrative expenses in our 
consolidated statements of earnings and recognized as an 
asset or liability in our consolidated balance sheets. Fair 
values for such contracts are generally obtained from coun-
ter parties. Although we did have forward foreign exchange 

contracts outstanding at times during fiscal 2005, at June 3, 
2005 and May 28, 2004, we did not have any forward 
foreign exchange contracts outstanding.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Our financial instruments consist primarily of cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
long-term debt. Given their short-term nature, the carry-
ing amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 
accounts payable approximate their fair values. The carry-
ing amounts of our variable rate borrowings approximate 
their fair value as the interest rate changes with the market 
rate. The fair value of our fixed rate debt is approximately 
$215.6 million as of June 3, 2005.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND 

SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentra-
tions of credit risk consist primarily of accounts receiv-
able, for which the total exposure is limited to the amount 
recognized in our consolidated balance sheets. We sell 
our merchandise in all major retail distribution chan-
nels across the United States as well as some distribution 
channels in other countries. We extend and continuously 
monitor credit based on an evaluation of the customer’s 
financial condition and credit history and generally 
require no collateral. Credit risk is impacted by conditions 
or occurrences within the economy and the retail indus-
try and is principally dependent on each customer’s finan-
cial condition. Two customers, in aggregate, constituted 
approximately $56.9 million of trade accounts receivable 
outstanding at June 3, 2005 and the same two customers, 
in the aggregate, constituted approximately $53.9 million 
of trade accounts receivable outstanding at May 28, 2004.
 Additionally, a decision by the controlling owner of a 
group of stores or any significant customer to decrease the 
amount of merchandise purchased from us or to cease carry-
ing our products could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations in future periods. Our top customer 
represented approximately 15% of our net sales in fiscal 
2005 and our top two customers represented 19% and 11% 
of our net sales in fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2003, our top three 
customers represented 22%, 16% and 15% of our net sales.
 In fiscal 2005, one customer represented 15% of the 
Menswear Group sales, three customers represented 56%, 
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30% and 11% of the Womenswear Group sales and one 
customer represented 17% of the Tommy Bahama Group 
sales. In fiscal 2004, two customers represented 19% and 
11% of the Menswear Group sales, three customers 
represented 51%, 34% and 10% of the Womenswear 
Group sales and one customer represented 16% of the 
Tommy Bahama Group sales. In fiscal 2003, two cus-
tomers represented 26% and 12% of the Menswear 
Group sales and two customers represented 48% and 
34% of the Womenswear Group sales.

LEASES

In the ordinary course of business we enter into lease 
agreements for retail, office and warehouse/distribution 
space as well as leases for certain plant and equipment. The 
leases have varying terms and expirations and frequently 
have provisions to extend or renew the lease agreement, 
among other terms and conditions, as negotiated. We 
assess the lease at inception and determine whether the 
lease qualifies as a capital or operating lease. Assets leased 
under capital leases and the related liabilities are included 
in our consolidated balance sheets in fixed assets and 
short-term and long-term debt, respectively. Assets leased 
under operating leases are not recognized as liabilities in 
our consolidated balance sheets.
 When a non-cancelable operating lease includes any 
fixed escalation clauses and lease incentives for rent holi-
days or build-out contributions, rent expense is recog-
nized on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the 
lease from the date that we take possession of the space. 
The excess between the average rental amount charged to 
expense and amounts payable under the lease is recorded 
in other non-current liabilities on our consolidated bal-
ance sheets. Contingent rents, including those based on a 
percentage of retail sales over stated levels, and rental pay-
ment increases based on a contingent future event are rec-
ognized as the expense is incurred.

INCOME TAXES

We recognize deferred tax liabilities and assets based on 
the difference between the financial and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the period in which such amounts are 
expected to be realized or settled. Our policy is to recognize 
net deferred tax assets, whose realization is dependent on 

taxable earnings in future years, when a greater than 50 per-
cent probability exists that the tax benefits will actually be 
realized sometime in the future and provide for a reserve for 
items when a greater than 50 percent probability exists that 
a tax deduction taken would be disallowed under examina-
tion by the taxing authority. No material valuation allow-
ances have been recognized in our financial statements.
 We have undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 
of approximately $28 million which have been provided 
for in our income tax provision as the earnings are not con-
sidered permanently invested outside of the United States. 
If the earnings were repatriated to the United States, the 
earnings would be subject to United States taxation at that 
time. The amount of deferred tax liability recognized asso-
ciated with the undistributed earnings was approximately 
$3 million at June 3, 2005, representing the approximate 
excess of the United States tax liability over the creditable 
foreign taxes paid that would result from a full remittance 
of undistributed earnings.
 We receive a United States income tax benefit upon 
the exercise of the majority of our employee stock options. 
The benefit is equal to the difference between the fair 
market value of the stock at the time of the exercise and 
the option price, times the approximate tax rate. We 
have recorded the benefit associated with the exercise of 
employee stock options as a reduction to income taxes 
payable and a credit directly to shareholders’ equity in our 
consolidated balance sheets.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We have stock-based employee compensation plans, which 
are described more fully in note 8, which provide for the 
ability to grant stock options, restricted stock and other 
awards to our employees. We account for employee stock 
option plans using the intrinsic value method. No com-
pensation expense is recognized related to the stock options 
because the exercise price of our employee stock options 
equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date 
of the grant, except to the extent that the stock options are 
modified which may result in a new measurement date 
and the recognition of compensation expense, which is 
included in selling, general and administrative expense in 
our consolidated statements of earnings.
 Compensation expense, with a corresponding entry to 
additional paid-in capital, is recognized related to the issuance 
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of restricted stock grants which are generally dependent 
upon us meeting certain performance measures in one year 
and the employee remaining with us for three years subse-
quent to the performance period. The amount of compen-
sation recognized over the performance and vesting period 
is calculated as the market value of the shares granted on 
the date that the performance measures are met or when no 
performance measure is applicable, the market value on the 
grant date. The compensation expense is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the performance period and required 
service period. To the extent that restricted stock awards are 
forfeited prior to vesting, the previously recognized expense 
is reversed. The restricted stock awards resulted in $0.5 
million of compensation expense in fiscal 2005, the first 
year that we have granted such awards. As of June 3, 2005, 
unearned compensation associated with restricted stock 
that will be recognized as expense over future periods was 
approximately $2.7 million.
 The effect of applying the fair value method of 
SFAS 123 to our stock option plans is demonstrated below 
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts):

    Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
    2005 2004 2003

Net earnings as reported $ 49,827 $ 39,716 $ 20,327
Add: Total stock-based 
 employee compensation 
 expense determined under 
 intrinsic value method for 
 all awards, net of related 
 tax effects  639  –  –
Deduct: Total stock-based 
 employee compensation 
 expense determined under 
 fair value based method for 
 all awards, net of related 
 tax effects  (1,486)  (664)  (386)

Pro forma net earnings $ 48,980 $ 39,052 $ 19,941
Basic earnings per common 
 share as reported $ 2.97 $ 2.47 $ 1.35
Pro forma basic earnings 
 per common share $ 2.92 $ 2.43 $ 1.33
Diluted earnings per 
 common share as reported $ 2.87 $ 2.38 $ 1.34
Pro forma diluted earnings 
 per common share $ 2.85 $ 2.34 $ 1.32

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period 
without any consideration for the impact of shares which 
are issuable upon the exercise of a stock option or restricted 
shares which are contingent upon an employee providing 
future services.
 Diluted earnings per share includes the effect of all 
dilutive common shares outstanding during the period 
using the treasury stock method. The treasury stock 
method assumes that shares are issued for stock options 
and restricted shares that are “in the money,” and that we 
use the proceeds of such stock option exercises to repur-
chase shares at the average market value of our shares for 
the respective period. For purposes of the treasury stock 
method, proceeds consist of cash to be paid, future com-
pensation expense to be recognized and the amount of tax 
benefits, if any, that will be credited to additional paid-in 
capital assuming exercise of the stock options and vesting 
of the restricted shares.
 For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share, 
restricted shares and shares issuable pursuant to any earn-
out agreements are included in the calculation as of the first 
day of the quarter which the performance criteria are met. 
During fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, 485,248 shares were 
included in the calculation as of the first day of the fourth 
quarter of the respective fiscal year, which is the period that 
the earn-out targets were met, although the shares were not 
issued until the next fiscal year.
 For fiscal 2005 and 2004 no stock options were 
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per 
share. For fiscal 2003, approximately 177,000 stock 
options were excluded from the computation of diluted 
earnings per share as the shares were anti-dilutive.
 We effected a two-for-one stock split in the form of 
a 100% stock dividend, payable December 1, 2003, to 
shareholders of record on November 17, 2003. All share 
and per share data appearing in these consolidated financial 
statements and related notes reflect this stock split.

SEASONALITY

Although our various product lines are sold on a year-
round basis, the demand for specific products or styles may 
be highly seasonal. For example, the demand for golf and 
Tommy Bahama products is higher in the spring and sum-
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mer seasons. Products are sold prior to each of our retail 
selling seasons, including spring, summer, fall and holiday. 
As the timing of product shipments and other events affect-
ing the retail business may vary, results for any particular 
quarter may not be indicative of results for the full year. 
The percentage of net sales distribution by quarter for fis-
cal 2005 was 20%, 24%, 27% and 29%, respectively, and 
the net earnings by quarter for fiscal 2005 were 13%, 18%, 
28% and 41%, respectively, which may not be indicative 
of the distribution in future years.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States requires us to make certain estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported as assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts in our prior year consolidated financial 
statements have been reclassified to conform to the current 
year’s presentation.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board, or FASB, issued FASB Statement No. 151 
“Inventory Costs, an Amendment of ARB No. 43 
Chapter 4” (“FAS 151”). FAS 151 is applicable for inven-
tory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2005. FAS 151 requires that items such as idle 
facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and re-
handling be recognized as current-period charges rather 
than being included in inventory regardless of whether the 
costs meet the criterion of abnormal as defined in ARB 
No. 43. We do not believe the adoption of FAS 151 will 
have a material impact on us upon adoption in fiscal 2006 
as we have historically expensed such costs as incurred.
 In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement 
No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment: an 
Amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95” (“FAS 
123R”). FAS 123R is applicable for fiscal periods begin-
ning after June 15, 2005. FAS 123R sets accounting 
requirements for “share-based” compensation to employees, 

requires companies to recognize, in the statement of earn-
ings, the grant-date fair value of stock options and other 
equity-based compensation issued to employees and disal-
lows the use of the intrinsic value method of accounting 
for stock-based compensation. We are currently evaluat-
ing the impact that FAS 123R will have on our results of 
operations upon adoption, which is required no later than 
fiscal 2007.
 In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act 
of 2004 (the “Act”) was signed into law by the President. 
Among other provisions, the Act provides for a special one-
time tax deduction of 85 percent of certain foreign earnings 
that are repatriated in either an enterprise’s last tax year that 
began before the enactment date or the first tax year that 
begins during the one-year period beginning on the date of 
enactment. As a result of execution of the Act, the account-
ing treatment of such unremitted earnings that are expected 
to be repatriated must be considered in evaluating an enti-
ty’s tax provision. We are currently evaluating the appropri-
ate action with respect to the repatriation provision. As we 
have not completed this assessment, no impact of repatria-
tion has been recognized in our fiscal 2005 tax provision or 
our consolidated financial statements. We expect to have 
this evaluation completed during fiscal 2006.

NOTE 2. 
ACQUISITIONS 

During fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 we completed the 
acquisition of Ben Sherman Limited (“Ben Sherman”) 
and Viewpoint International, Inc., (“the Tommy Bahama 
Group”), as discussed below. These acquisitions helped us 
achieve one of our key strategic objectives of owning major 
lifestyle brands. The acquisitions provide strategic benefits 
through growth opportunities and further diversification of 
our business over distribution channels, price points, prod-
uct categories and target customers. The results of opera-
tions of Ben Sherman and the Tommy Bahama Group are 
included in our consolidated statements of earnings from 
the respective dates of the acquisitions.

ACQUISITION PURCHASE PRICE

On July 30, 2004, we acquired 100% of the capital stock of 
Ben Sherman, which we operate as part of our Menswear 
Group. Ben Sherman is a London-based designer, distrib-
utor and marketer of branded sportswear, accessories, and 
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footwear. The purchase price for Ben Sherman was £80 
million, or approximately $145 million, plus associated 
expenses of approximately $3.3 million. The transaction 
was financed with cash on hand, borrowings from our U.S. 
Revolver and Seller Notes both as defined and described 
further in note 6 to our consolidated financial statements.
 On June 13, 2003, we acquired all of the capital stock 
of Viewpoint International, Inc., which we operate as the 
Tommy Bahama Group. The purchase price for the 
Tommy Bahama Group could be up to $325 million, 
consisting of $240 million in cash and $10 million in our 
common stock (776,400 shares) at closing, approximately 
$3.4 million in transaction costs and up to $75 million in 
contingent payments, subject to the Tommy Bahama 
Group achieving certain performance targets. Such per-
formance targets are based on earnings before interest 
and taxes after deduction of a capital charge based on 
net tangible assets.
 For each of the four years following the acquisition, 
the selling stockholders of the Tommy Bahama Group 
will receive an annual basic contingent payment if the 
Tommy Bahama Group’s earnings are greater than 90% 
of the applicable target and will receive the maximum 
annual basic contingent payment of $12.5 million if the 
Tommy Bahama Group’s earnings are 100% or greater 
than the applicable target. If the Tommy Bahama Group’s 
earnings are between 90% and 100% of the applicable 
target, the annual basic contingent payment will be cal-
culated on a straight line basis from $0 to $12.5 million. 
Up to 50% of any annual basic contingent payment may 
be paid in shares of our common stock at the option of 
the selling stockholders in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005 and 
at our option in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007. Shares of our 
common stock issued at our option will be valued at the 
average price on the New York Stock Exchange (or other 
applicable exchange) for the ten full trading days prior to 
the applicable payment date. In accordance with the terms 
of the purchase agreement, shares of our common stock 
issued at the option of the selling stockholders were valued 
at $12.88 per share.
 Additionally, if, at the end of the four year period, 
cumulative earnings exceed the cumulative targets, the 

selling stockholders will receive 33.33% of the cumulative 
excess up to a maximum cumulative additional contingent 
payment of $25.0 million. Any cumulative additional pay-
ment will be paid in cash.
 Approximately 95% of the total value of the contin-
gent payments to be paid to selling stockholders will be 
treated as additional purchase price and recorded as good-
will in our consolidated balance sheets. The remaining 5% 
of the total value of all consideration that becomes due and 
payable under the agreement has been designated to be paid 
toward an employee cash bonus plan to be distributed to 
employees of the Tommy Bahama Group under the terms 
of the plan. The contingent payments designated toward 
the employee cash bonus plan are charged to selling, gen-
eral and administrative expense in our consolidated state-
ments of earnings.
 The Year 1 contingent payment was earned in full 
and was paid during the first quarter of fiscal 2005 in 
the form of approximately $6.2 million in cash and the 
remainder in our common stock valued at $12.88 per 
share for total consideration of approximately $24.6 
million. The total payment exceeded the $12.5 million 
annual payment as the issuance price of $12.88 was less 
than the fair value of the stock on the date of issuance. Of 
this amount approximately $23.4 million was recognized 
as goodwill with the remainder recognized as selling, gen-
eral and administrative expense in our consolidated state-
ments of earnings.
 The Year 2 contingent payment was earned in full 
and will be paid during the first quarter of fiscal 2006 
in the form of approximately $6.2 million in cash and 
the remainder in our common stock valued at $12.88 per 
share for total consideration of approximately $26.9 mil-
lion. Of this amount approximately $25.8 million was 
recognized as goodwill with the remainder recognized as 
selling, general and administrative expense in our consol-
idated statements of earnings.

FAIR VALUE ALLOCATIONS

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed at the respective date of 
the acquisition of Ben Sherman and the Tommy Bahama 
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Group, including any contingent payments earned to date 
(in thousands).

     Tommy Bahama
    Ben Sherman Group

Total purchase price   $ 149,157 $ 304,173

Cash    $ 7,656 $ 22,145
Accounts receivable    25,637  29,521
Inventories    25,206  27,697
Other current assets    2,841  6,015
Goodwill    46,325  135,918
Intangibles    96,500  153,360
Property, plant and equipment   3,765  28,087
Other assets    –  2,470
Liabilities assumed    (29,823)  (46,879)
Deferred taxes    (28,950)  (54,161)

Fair value of net assets acquired  $ 149,157 $ 304,173

 The components of intangibles assets (along with the 
useful life as of the date of acquisition) acquired in the acqui-
sition of Ben Sherman and the Tommy Bahama Group are 
as follows (in thousands):

     Ben Sherman  Tommy Bahama Group

     Amount Life Amount Life

Trademarks $82,000 Indefinite $127,800 Indefinite
License 
 agreements 11,700 4 years 8,400 5 years
Customer 
 relationships 2,800 15 years 16,700 15 years
Covenant not 
 to compete – n/a 460 4 years

Total  $96,500  $153,360

 The pro forma financial information presented 
below (in thousands, except per share data) gives effect 
to the Ben Sherman acquisition and the Tommy Bahama 
Group acquisition as if the acquisitions had occurred as of 
the beginning of the respective periods. The information 
presented below is for illustrative purposes only and is not 
indicative of results that would have been achieved if the 
acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of fiscal 2004 
or results which may be achieved in the future.

     Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004

Net sales $ 1,344,089 $ 1,275,578
Net earnings $ 52,611 $ 45,282
Net earnings per share:
Basic  $ 3.13 $ 2.81
Diluted $ 3.03 $ 2.71

NOTE 3. 
INVENTORIES

The components of inventories are summarized as follows 
(in thousands): 

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

Finished goods $ 136,686 $ 85,492
Work in process  9,238  9,925
Fabric, trim and supplies  23,372  20,993

    $ 169,296 $ 116,410

 As of June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, approxi-
mately 65% and 76%, respectively, of our inventories are 
accounted for using the LIFO method. As of June 3, 2005 
and May 28, 2004, the inventory balances reflect a LIFO 
reserve of $37.3 million and $35.5 million, respectively, 
for the excess of the FIFO cost over the LIFO basis. During 
fiscal 2004 and 2003 inventory quantities were reduced 
in certain pools, which resulted in a liquidation of LIFO 
inventory layers carried at lower costs which prevailed in 
prior years. The effect of the liquidations in fiscal 2004 and 
fiscal 2003 was to decrease cost of goods sold and increase 
net earnings by less than $0.1 million in each year.

NOTE 4. 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Property, plant and equipment, carried at cost, are sum-
marized as follows (in thousands):

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

Land  $ 2,068 $ 2,075
Buildings  31,273  28,980
Machinery and equipment  71,495  71,010
Leasehold improvements  46,310  26,719

     151,146  128,784

Less accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization  (86,095)  (76,958)

    $ 65,051 $ 51,826
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NOTE 5. 
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES ASSETS 

Intangible assets by category are summarized below 
(in thousands): 

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

Intangible assets with finite lives:
Gross carrying amount: 
 Trademarks $ 578 $ 578
 License agreements  20,683  8,983
 Customer relationships  19,500  16,700
 Covenant not to compete  460  460

Subtotal  41,221  26,721
Accumulated amortization: 
 Trademarks  (578)  (222)
 License agreements  (7,941)  (2,907)
 Customer relationships  (7,418)  (3,944)
 Covenant not to compete  (230)  (115)

Subtotal  (16,167)  (7,188)

Total intangible assets 
 with finite lives, net  25,054  19,533
Unamortized intangible assets: 
 Trademarks  209,800  127,800

Total intangible assets, net $ 234,854 $ 147,333

 Based on the current estimated useful lives assigned 
to our intangible assets, amortization expense for fiscal 
2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010 is projected to total 
$7.4 million, $6.1 million, $4.2 million, $2.0 million 
and $1.6 million.
 The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for 
the years ended June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004 are as fol-
lows (in thousands):

Balance, May 30, 2003  $ 5,839
Tommy Bahama Group acquisition, including 
 fiscal 2004 earnout   109,587

Balance, May 28, 2004   115,426
Ben Sherman acquisition   46,325
Translation difference   481
Tommy Bahama Group acquisition fiscal 2005 earnout  26,331

Balance, June 3, 2005  $ 188,563

 The goodwill related to the Ben Sherman acquisition in 
fiscal 2005 and the goodwill related to the Tommy Bahama 
Group acquisition in fiscal 2004 were allocated to the 
Menswear Group and Tommy Bahama Group, respectively.

NOTE 6. 
DEBT

The following table details our debt (in thousands) as 
of the dates specified: 

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

$280 million U.S. Secured Revolving 
 Credit Facility (“U.S. Revolver”), which 
 accrues interest, unused line fees and 
 letter of credit fees based upon a pricing 
 grid which is tied to certain financial 
 ratios (5.31% at June 3, 2005), requires 
 interest payments monthly with principal 
 due at maturity (July 2009), and is 
 collateralized by substantially all the 
 assets of our domestic subsidiaries(1) $ 90,100 $ –

£12 million Senior Secured Revolving 
 Credit Facility (“U.K. Revolver”), which 
 accrues interest at the bank’s base rate 
 plus 1.2%, requires interest payments 
 monthly with principal payable on 
 demand or at maturity (July 2006), and 
 is collateralized by substantially all the 
 United Kingdom assets of Ben Sherman(2)  –  –

$200 million Senior Unsecured Notes 
 (“Senior Unsecured Notes”), which 
 accrue interest at 8.875%, require interest 
 payments semiannually on June 1 and 
 December 1 of each year, with principal 
 due at maturity (June 2011), are subject 
 to certain prepayment penalties and are 
 guaranteed by our domestic subsidiaries(3)  198,938  198,760

Unsecured Seller Notes (“Seller Notes”), 
 which accrue interest at LIBOR plus 
 1.2% (6.54% at June 3, 2005) and 
 require interest payments quarterly 
 with principal payable on demand(2)  3,342  –

Other debt, including capital lease 
 obligations with varying terms and 
 conditions, collateralized by the 
 respective assets  150  152

Total debt  292,530  198,912

Short-term debt and current 
 maturities of long-term debt  3,407  98

Long-term debt, less current maturities $ 289,123 $ 198,814

(1)  On July 28, 2004, the U.S. Revolver was amended to increase the line of credit from 
$275 million to $280 million, to eliminate the asset borrowing base calculation to deter-
mine availability and to adjust the amount that certain lenders were committed to loan, 
among other changes. Approximately $1.8 million of unamortized deferred financing costs 
were expensed as a result of the amendment, which was included in interest expense in the 
consolidated statement of earnings in fiscal 2005. Additionally, the terms and conditions 
of certain related agreements were modified in November 2004, including a change to a 
springing lock-box agreement, which resulted in amounts outstanding under the facility 
requiring classification as long-term debt subsequent to the modification.

(2)  The U.K. Revolver and Seller Notes were entered into on July 30, 2004, in connection with 
the Ben Sherman acquisition.

(3)  The Senior Unsecured Notes were sold on May 16, 2003 at a discount of 0.713% ($1.4 mil-
lion) to yield an effective interest rate of 9.0%.
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 The U.S. Revolver, the U.K. Revolver and the Senior 
Unsecured Notes each include certain debt covenant restric-
tions that require us or our subsidiaries to maintain certain 
financial ratios that are customary for similar facilities. The 
facilities also include limitations on certain restricted pay-
ments such as dividends and earn-out payments. To ensure 
compliance with the minimum availability requirement of 
our U.S. Revolver, we sought and obtained the consent of 
our U.S. Revolver bank group to pay our third and fourth 
quarter fiscal 2005 dividends without regard to the avail-
ability requirement. We currently do not anticipate the 
need for a consent to pay dividends in future quarters. 
As of June 3, 2005, we were compliant with all restrictive 
financial covenants related to our debt agreements.
 Under the U.S. Revolver and U.K. Revolver, we may 
arrange for the issuance of letters of credit. As of June 3, 
2005, approximately $113.0 million and $0.8 million of 
trade letters of credit were outstanding against the U.S. 
Revolver and the U.K. Revolver, respectively. The net avail-
ability under our U.S. Revolver and U.K. Revolver was 
approximately $76.9 million and $21.0 million, respec-
tively, as of June 3, 2005.
 The aggregate maturities of debt are as follows 
(in thousands): 

Fiscal Year 

2006      $ 3,407
2007       46
2008       23
2009       16
2010       90,100
Thereafter     198,938

        $ 292,530

NOTE 7.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We have operating lease agreements for buildings, retail 
space, sales offices and equipment with varying terms. The 
aggregate minimum rental commitments for all non-cancel-
able operating leases with original terms in excess of one year 
are $25.7 million, $24.8 million, $24.7 million, $24.5 mil-
lion, $23.8 million and $86.1 million for fiscal 2006, 2007, 
2008, 2009, 2010 and thereafter, respectively. The total rent 
expense under all leases was $30.9 million, $23.7 million 
and $5.4 million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
which includes contingent rent expense of $1.0 million and 
$1.2 million during fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively.

 We are also obligated under certain apparel license and 
design agreements to make future minimum payments 
of $6.2 million, $1.1 million, $0.3 million, $0.3 million, 
$0.3 million and $1.0 million for fiscal 2006, 2007, 2008, 
2009, 2010 and thereafter, respectively.
 In a prior fiscal year, we discovered the presence of a 
hazardous waste on one of our properties. We believe that 
remedial action will be required, including continued 
investigation, monitoring and treatment of groundwater 
and soil. Based on advice from our environmental experts, 
we provided $4.5 million for this remediation in the fiscal 
year ended May 31, 1996, which is included in accrued 
expenses in our consolidated balance sheets.
 As discussed in note 2 in our consolidated financial 
statements, in accordance with the acquisition of the 
Tommy Bahama Group, we are obligated to pay the earn-
out relating to fiscal 2005 and may be obligated to pay an 
earn-out relating to fiscal 2006 and 2007 up to $12.5 mil-
lion for each year if certain performance targets are 
achieved. Additionally, we may have an obligation to pay 
up to $25 million if certain cumulative performance targets 
for fiscal 2004 through fiscal 2007 are achieved.
 
NOTE 8.
STOCK COMPENSATION

LONG TERM STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

At June 3, 2005, approximately 2.7 million share awards 
were available for issuance under our Long Term Stock 
Incentive Plan (the “Long Term Stock Incentive Plan”), 
which was approved by our shareholders on October 5, 
2004. The plan allows us to grant stock based awards to 
employees and non-executive directors including stock 
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and 
other performance-based benefits.
 During fiscal 2005, we granted 3,617 restricted stock 
awards at a price of $40.47 per share to our non-executive 
employee directors. The non-executive director must com-
plete the current term of service on the board, otherwise, 
the restricted shares are forfeited. On the date of grant, the 
non-executive directors are entitled to the same dividend 
and voting rights of other holders of our common stock. 
The non-executive director is restricted from transferring 
or selling the restricted shares.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries



5 0    O X F O R D  I N D U S T R I E S   

 During fiscal 2005, we granted 75,900 restricted stock 
awards to employees based on our achievement of certain 
performance criteria during fiscal 2005. The restricted shares 
will vest three years from June 3, 2005 if the employee is still 
employed by us on that date. At the time that the shares are 
issued in fiscal 2006, the shareholder is entitled to the same 
dividend and voting rights of other holders of our common 
stock. The employee is restricted from transferring or selling 
the restricted shares and forfeits the shares upon the termina-
tion of employment prior to the end of the vesting period. 
The specific provisions of the awards, including exercisabil-
ity and term of the award, are evidenced by agreements with 
the employee as determined by the compensation commit-
tee. Stock compensation expense recognized related to these 
grants totaled $0.5 million during fiscal 2005.
 Shares granted under our previous stock incentive 
plans, the 1992 Stock Option Plan and the 1997 Stock 
Option Plan continue to be governed under those plans and 
the individual agreements with respect to provisions relating 
to exercise, termination and forfeiture. No additional grants 
are available under the previous plans as all options available 
for grant under those plans have been incorporated into the 
Long Term Stock Incentive Plan.

 Stock options granted under the previous incentive 
plans were granted with an exercise price equal to the 
stock’s fair market value on the date of grant. The stock 
options have ten-year terms and vest and become exer-
cisable in increments of 20% on each anniversary from 
the date of grant. The vesting period of certain options 
was accelerated in fiscal 2005 that resulted in the recog-
nition of stock compensation expense of $0.4 million in 
our consolidated statement of earnings during the year. 
No awards were accelerated in other years that resulted in 
stock compensation expense.
 The pro forma information in note 1 has been deter-
mined as if we had accounted for our employee stock 
options using the fair value method. The fair value of 
these options was estimated at the date of the grant using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the follow-
ing assumption ranges: Risk-free interest rates between 
4.565% and 6.510%, dividend yields between 1.28% and 
4.87%, volatility factors between 0.2814 and 0.3525, and 
expected lives of ten years.
 A summary of the status of our stock option plans 
and changes during the years ended are presented below:
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  Fiscal Year

  2005 2004 2003

   Weighted Average  Weighted Average  Weighted Average
 Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year 1,003,920 $19 967,160 $12 798,000 $12
Granted – – 463,500 30 234,000 12
Exercised (175,020) 14 (414,640) 14 (13,540) 9
Forfeited (65,520) 26 (12,100) 14 (51,300) 13

Outstanding, end of year 763,380 $21 1,003,920 $19 967,160 $12
Options exercisable, end of year 215,080  123,920  344,820

 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of June 3, 2005.

    Number of Exercise Grant Date Number
Date of Option Grant Shares Price Fair Value Exercisable Expiration Date

July 13, 1998 26,300 $17.83 $5.16 26,300 July 13, 2008
July 12, 1999 36,720 13.94 4.70 36,720 July 12, 2009
July 10, 2000 61,950 8.63 2.03 29,710 July 10, 2010
July 16, 2001 98,200 10.73 3.18 28,240 July 16, 2011
July 15, 2002 149,530 11.73 3.25 30,310 July 15, 2012
August 18, 2003 205,680 26.44 11.57 26,800 Aug. 18, 2013
November 17, 2003 40,000 32.15 14.81 8,000 Nov. 17, 2013
December 16, 2003 145,000 32.75 14.17 29,000 Dec. 16, 2013

    763,380   215,080



O X F O R D  I N D U S T R I E S    5 1

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

On October 5, 2004, our shareholders approved the 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). There are 
approximately 0.2 million shares of common stock autho-
rized for issuance under the ESPP, which allows for quali-
fied employees to purchase shares on a quarterly basis 
based on certain limitations with respect to the employee’s 
salary and other limitations through payroll deductions. 
There are no vesting or other restrictions on the stock pur-
chased by employees under the ESPP. On the last day of 
each calendar quarter, the accumulated payroll deductions 
are applied toward the purchase of our common stock at a 
price equal to 85% of the market price on that date. Stock 
compensation expense recognized in fiscal 2005 related to 
the plan totaled $0.1 million.

NOTE 9. 
INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes includes the fol-
lowing (in thousands): 

    Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Current:
 Federal $ 23,443 $ 22,526 $ 12,725
 State  1,240  2,002  1,645
 Foreign  5,084  1,235  1,088

     29,767  25,763  15,458
Deferred  (4,014)  (2,379)  (2,371)

    $ 25,753 $ 23,384 $ 13,087

 Reconciliations of the United States federal statutory 
income tax rates and our effective tax rates are summarized 
as follows:

    Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes – 
 net of federal income 
 tax benefit 1.3% 1.8% 2.6%
Amortization of 
 deductible goodwill (1.2)% – –
Other, net (1.0)% 0.3% 1.6%

Effective rate 34.1% 37.1% 39.2%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the fol-
lowing (in thousands):

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

Deferred Tax Assets:
Inventories $ 2,414 $ 1,515
Accrued compensation and benefits  5,341  4,549
Allowance for doubtful accounts  997  1,375
Depreciation and amortization  6,353  5,172
Non-current liabilities  1,715  1,721
Deferred rent and lease obligations  1,861  737
Other, net  2,385  3,381

Deferred tax assets  21,066  18,450
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Acquired intangible assets  83,261  56,146
Foreign  3,275  3,054
Other, net  4,022  3,940

Deferred tax liabilities  90,558  63,140

Net deferred tax (liability) asset $ (69,492) $ (44,690)
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NOTE 10. 
BENEFIT PLANS 

We have tax-qualified voluntary retirement savings 
plans covering substantially all full-time United States 
employees and other similar plans covering certain for-
eign employees. If a participant decides to contribute, a 
portion of the contribution is matched by us. Our total 
expense under these defined contribution plans in fiscal 
2005, 2004 and 2003 were $2.6 million, $1.8 million 
and $1.1 million, respectively.
 Additionally, we have certain non-qualified deferred 
compensation plans offered to a select group of manage-
ment and highly compensated employees with varying 
terms and conditions. The plans provide the participants 
with the opportunity to defer a portion of the participat-
ing employee’s total compensation in a given plan year, of 
which a percentage may be matched in accordance with 
the terms of the respective plan. All deferred amounts 
vest immediately, but the matching contributions may 
require up to two years of service prior to vesting. The 
total expense for our match under these non-qualified 
deferred compensation plans in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 
2003 was $0.2 million, $0.2 million, and $0.1 million, 
respectively. The liabilities associated with the non-quali-
fied deferred compensation plans are included in other 
non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets 
and totaled approximately $8.3 million and $5.9 million at 
June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, respectively. We fund these 
deferred compensation liabilities by making contributions 
to rabbi trusts or other investments, dependant upon the 
requirements of the plan. As of June 3, 2005, approxi-
mately $3.8 million of these investments were held in a 
rabbi trust. As of June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, the 
assets approximate the liability and are included in other 
non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 11. 
SEGMENTS

We have three operating segments for purposes of allocat-
ing resources and assessing performance which are based 
on products distributed. The segment information for the 
year ended May 30, 2003 has been restated to conform 
to our current determination of our operating segments. 
The Menswear Group produces branded and private 
label dress shirts, sport shirts, dress slacks, casual slacks, 
suits, sportcoats, suit separates, walkshorts, golf apparel, 
outerwear, sweaters, jeans, swimwear, footwear and head-
wear, licenses its brands for accessories and other products 
and operates retail stores. The Womenswear Group pro-
duces private label women’s sportswear separates, coordi-
nated sportswear, outerwear, dresses and swimwear. The 
Tommy Bahama Group produces lifestyle branded casual 
attire, operates retail stores and restaurants, and licenses 
its brands for accessories, footwear, furniture, and other 
products. The head of each operating segment reports to 
the chief operating decision maker.
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 Corporate and other is a reconciling category for reporting purposes and includes our corporate offices, substan-
tially all financing activities, LIFO inventory accounting adjustments and other costs that are not allocated to the oper-
ating groups. LIFO inventory calculations are made on a legal entity basis which does not correspond to our segment 
definitions. Therefore, LIFO inventory accounting adjustments are not allocated to the operating segments. Total 
assets for corporate and other includes the LIFO inventory reserve of $37.3 million, $35.5 million and $34.9 million 
at June 3, 2005, May 28, 2004 and May 30, 2003, respectively. The information below presents certain information 
about our segments (in thousands):

   Tommy 
 Menswear Womenswear Bahama Corporate  
 Group Group Group and Other  Total

FISCAL 2005
Net sales $ 656,606 $ 256,822 $ 399,658 $ 523 $ 1,313,609
Depreciation  3,834  178  9,122  365  13,499
Amortization of intangible assets  3,059  356  5,563  –  8,978
Operating income  58,237  10,648  54,128  (18,286)  104,727
Interest expense, net          29,147
Earnings before income taxes          75,580
Total assets  412,461  79,678  412,441  1,297  905,877
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  3,136  136  19,953  319  23,544
Goodwill  48,653  3,992  135,918  –  188,563
Intangible assets  93,689  –  141,165  –  234,854

FISCAL 2004
Net sales $ 448,800 $ 297,865 $ 369,148 $ 739 $ 1,116,552
Depreciation  3,520  401  7,292  489  11,702
Amortization of intangible assets  39  38  6,632  –  6,709
Operating income  41,915  11,583  50,644  (17,129)  87,013
Interest expense, net          23,913
Earnings before income taxes          63,100
Total assets  171,718  95,866  390,961  36,272  694,817
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  1,831  71  12,033  208  14,143
Goodwill  1,847  3,992  109,587  –  115,426
Intangible assets  256  349  146,728  –  147,333

FISCAL 2003
Net sales $ 455,516 $ 308,762 $ – $ 324 $ 764,602
Depreciation  4,278  920  –  662  5,860
Amortization of intangible assets  39  38  –  –  77
Operating income  27,837  17,321  –  (9,809)  35,349
Interest expense, net          1,935
Earnings before income taxes          33,414
Total assets  183,834  86,118  –  224,413  494,365
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  1,713  82  –  256  2,051
Goodwill  1,847  3,992  –  –  5,839
Intangible assets  288  394  –  –  682
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Information for the net book value of our long-lived assets, 
including property, plant and equipment, goodwill and 
intangible assets, by geographic area is presented below (in 
thousands):

    Year Ended

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

United States $ 336,310 $ 305,625
Latin America  7,217  8,452
United Kingdom and Europe  144,594  –
Other foreign  347  508

Total  $ 488,468 $ 314,585

 Information for the net sales recognized by geographic 
area is presented below (in thousands):

    Year Ended

     June 3,  May 28,
     2005  2004

United States and Canada $ 1,199,210 $ 1,116,552
United Kingdom and Europe  114,399  –
Total   –  –

    $ 1,313,609 $ 1,116,552

NOTE 12. 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

SunTrust Banks, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“SunTrust”) 
holds shares of our common stock in various fiduciary 
and agency capacities and as such is a principal share-
holder of our common stock. Mr. J. Hicks Lanier, our 
Chief Executive Officer, is on the board of directors of 
SunTrust and its Audit Committee. Mr. E. Jenner Wood, 
III, a board member of Oxford Industries, was Chairman, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of SunTrust Bank, 
Central Group, during fiscal 2005.

 In fiscal 2004, we established a syndicated credit facil-
ity under which subsidiaries of SunTrust served as agent 
and lender. In fiscal 2005 and 2004, the services provided 
and interest and fees paid to SunTrust in connection with 
such services are set forth below:

Service  Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004

Agent for credit facility   $ 2,999,000 $ 4,749,000
Cash management and 
 senior notes related services  $ 133,000 $ 82,000
Trustee for deferred 
 compensation plan   $ 8,000 $ 8,000
Stock transfer agent   $ 10,000 $ 10,000

 Our aggregate payments to SunTrust and its subsid-
iaries for these services, together with all of the other ser-
vices described above in this section, did not exceed 1% 
of our gross revenues during fiscal 2005 and 2004 or 1% 
of SunTrust’s gross revenues during its fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2004.
 During fiscal 2005 and 2004, the Tommy Bahama 
Group purchased approximately $5.5 million and $2.8 mil-
lion, respectively, of inventory and recorded approximately 
$1.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, in royalty 
income from Paradise Shoe Company, LLC. Paradise 
Shoe holds an exclusive license to produce and market 
men’s and women’s shoes, belts and socks under the 
Tommy Bahama brand. The net amount due from 
Paradise Shoe at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004 was 
$0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively. Subsequent 
to June 3, 2005, we sold our interest in Paradise Shoe.
 During fiscal 2005 and 2004, the Menswear Group 
purchased approximately $13.6 million and $8.6 mil-
lion, respectively, of inventory from Jiangsu Oxford Sainty 
Garment Manufacturing Limited.
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NOTE 13. 
SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED):

Following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004 
(in thousands, except per share amounts):

 Fiscal Quarter

  First Second Third Fourth Total

2005
Net sales $ 264,822 $ 312,988 $ 349,216 $ 386,583 $ 1,313,609
Gross profit  85,695  102,341  115,547  134,671  438,254
Net earnings  6,168  9,072  13,988  20,599  49,827
Basic earnings per common share  0.37  0.54  0.83  1.23  2.97
Diluted earnings per common share  0.36  0.53  0.80  1.17  2.87

2004
Net sales $ 242,105 $ 253,883 $ 281,418 $ 339,146 $ 1,116,552
Gross profit  70,891  76,832  87,068  105,653  340,444
Net earnings  6,842  6,840  9,540  16,494  39,716
Basic earnings per common share  0.44  0.43  0.59  1.02  2.47
Diluted earnings per common share  0.42  0.41  0.58  0.97  2.38

The sum of the four quarterly amounts for fiscal 2005 and 2004 do not necessarily equal the totals for the year then ended 
due to rounding differences. The information presented above for net sales and gross profit does not agree to amounts 
reported in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed for quarterly periods in fiscal 2005 as certain amounts relating 
to certain costs of our Ben Sherman operations were reclassified to provide consistency in classification between net 
sales, cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses. The reclassifications did not change previously 
reported net earnings or earnings per share.
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NOTE 14. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

Our Senior Unsecured Notes are guaranteed by our wholly owned domestic subsidiaries (“Subsidiary Guarantors”). All 
guarantees are full and unconditional. Non-guarantors consist of our subsidiaries which are organized outside the United 
States. Set forth below are our condensed consolidating balances sheets as of June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004 as well as our 
condensed consolidating statements of earnings and statements of cash flows for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thou-
sands). We have used the equity method with respect to investments in subsidiaries.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
June 3, 2005

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,713 $ 1,859 $ 1,900 $ 27 $ 6,499
Receivables, net  114,832  61,635  61,942  (41,315)  197,094
Inventories  97,398  51,836  20,522  (460)  169,296
Prepaid expenses  10,895  5,748  3,863  –  20,506

Total current assets  225,838  121,078  88,227  (41,748)  393,395
Property, plant and equipment, net  11,896  44,844  8,311  –  65,051
Goodwill, net  1,847  139,910  46,806  –  188,563
Intangible assets, net  210  141,165  93,479  –  234,854
Other non-current assets net  631,205  149,640  1,406  (758,237)  24,014

Total Assets $ 870,996 $ 596,637 $ 238,229 $ (799,985) $ 905,877

LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Total Current Liabilities:  127,435  76,847  49,198  (41,031)  212,449
Long term debt, less current portion  289,100  23  –  –  289,123
Non-current liabilities  146,922  (118,451)  104,288  (109,197)  23,562
Deferred income taxes  4,038  44,239  28,965  –  77,242
Total Shareholders’/invested equity  303,501  593,979  55,778  (649,757)  303,501

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 870,996 $ 596,637 $ 238,229 $ (799,985) $ 905,877
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
May 28, 2004

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45,405 $ 1,438 $ 724 $ 2 $ 47,569
Receivables  110,092  69,989  36,192  (39,906)  176,367
Inventories  75,699  38,412  2,299  –  116,410
Prepaid expenses  10,377  5,716  382  –  16,475

Total current assets  241,573  115,555  39,597  (39,904)  356,821
Property, plant and equipment, net  13,839  33,186  4,801  –  51,826
Goodwill  1,847  113,579  –  –  115,426
Intangibles, net  249  147,084  –  –  147,333
Other assets net  407,092  7,053  1,604  (392,338)  23,411

Total Assets $ 664,600 $ 416,457 $ 46,002 $ (432,242) $ 694,817

LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Total Current Liabilities:  139,790  75,663  17,942  (39,912)  193,483
Long term debt, less current portion  198,760  54  –  –  198,814
Non-current liabilities  82,943  (74,847)  3,031  (3)  11,124
Deferred income taxes  4,130  48,249  40  –  52,419
Total Shareholders’/invested equity  238,977  367,338  24,989  (392,327)  238,977

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 664,600 $ 416,457 $ 46,002 $ (432,242) $ 694,817
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Year Ended June 3, 2005

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
($ in thousands) (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

Net sales $ 717,773 $ 499,782 $ 169,096 $ (73,042) $ 1,313,609
Cost of goods sold  565,959  250,928  75,056  (16,588)  875,355
Gross profit  151,814  248,854  94,040  (56,454)  438,254
Selling, general and administrative  142,200  191,756  75,992  (64,362)  345,586
Royalties and other income  –  6,800  5,259  –  12,059

Operating income  9,614  63,898  23,307  7,908  104,727
Interest (income) expense, net  22,413  (8,567)  6,933  8,368  29,147
Income from equity investment  59,222  82  –  (59,304)  –

Earnings before income taxes  46,423  72,547  16,374  (59,764)  75,580
Income taxes  (4,007)  24,701  4,917  142  25,753

Net earnings $ 50,430 $ 47,846 $ 11,457 $ (59,906) $   49,827

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended June 3, 2005

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (41,775) $ 64,297 $ 18,338 $ 10,777 $ 51,637

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions  (144,360)  (29,690)  (138,256)  168,579  (143,727)
Investment in deferred compensation plan  –  (1,004)  –  –  (1,004)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (1,226)  (20,760)  (1,558)  –  (23,544)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  90  406  –  –  496

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities  (145,496)  (51,048)  (139,814)  168,579  (167,779)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in debt  90,206  (109,299)  101,481  –  82,388
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  3,471  138,885  29,694  (168,579)  3,471
Deferred financing costs  (2,766)  –  –  –  (2,766)
Change in intercompany payable  53,834  (45,230)  2,148  (10,752)  –
Dividends on common stock  (166)  2,816  (10,834)  –  (8,184)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  144,579  (12,828)  122,489  (179,331)  74,909
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (42,692)  421  1,013  25  (41,233)
Effect of foreign currency translation  –  –  163  –  163
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year  45,405  1,438  724  2  47,569

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year $ 2,713 $ 1,859 $ 1,900 $ 27 $ 6,499

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries



O X F O R D  I N D U S T R I E S    5 9

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Year Ended May 28, 2004

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

Net sales $ 693,222 $ 440,055 $ 37,672 $ (54,397) $ 1,116,552
Cost of goods sold  544,861  231,699  85  (537)  776,108

Gross profit  148,361  208,356  37,587  (53,860)  340,444
Selling, general and administrative  125,167  156,801  30,842  (54,265)  258,545
Royalties and other income  32  5,042  40  _  5,114

Operating income  23,226  56,597  6,785  405  87,013
Interest (income) expense, net  25,127  (1,523)  (95)  404  23,913
Income from equity investment  42,503  38  _  (42,541)  _

Earnings before income taxes  40,602  58,158  6,880  (42,540)  63,100
Income taxes  889  21,234  1,261  _  23,384

Net earnings $ 39,713 $ 36,924 $ 5,619 $ (42,540) $ 39,716

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year Ended May 28, 2004

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (79,105) $ 164,140 $ 294 $ (20,532) $ 64,797

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions  (245,062)  _  _  22,325  (222,737)
Decrease in restricted cash  204,986  _  _  _  204,986
Investment in deferred compensation plan  _  (1,842)  _  _  (1,842)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (2,068)  (11,875)  (200)  _  (14,143)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  98  1,099  1,051  (573)  1,675

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities  (42,046)  (12,618)  851  21,752  (32,061)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal payments of long-term debt  (129)  144  _  (225)  (210)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  5,286  _  _  _  5,286
Deferred financing costs paid  (7,416)  _  _  _  (7,416)
Change in intercompany payable  152,712  (150,446)  (1,141)  (1,125)  _
Dividends on common stock  (6,918)  _  _  _  (6,918)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  143,535  (150,302)  (1,141)  (1,350)  (9,258)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  22,384  1,220  4  (130)  23,478
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year  23,021  218  720  132  24,091

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year $ 45,405 $ 1,438 $ 724 $ 2 $ 47,569
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Year Ended May 30, 2003

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

Net sales $ 703,620 $ 78,545 $ 39,247 $ (56,810) $ 764,602
Cost of goods sold  550,966  52,313  1,595  17  604,891

Gross profit  152,654  26,232  37,652  (56,827)  159,711
Selling, general and administrative  131,200  12,286  37,645  (56,769)  124,362

Operating income  21,454  13,946  7  (58)  35,349
Interest (income) expense, net  3,232  (1,141)  (97)  (59)  1,935
Income from equity investment  10,596  65  –  (10,661)  –

Earnings before income taxes  28,818  15,152  104  (10,660)  33,414
Income taxes  8,494  3,506  1,087  –  13,087

Net earnings $ 20,324 $ 11,646 $ (983) $ (10,660) $ 20,327

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year Ended May 30, 2003

    Oxford
    Industries Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating Consolidated
    (Parent) Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments Total

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ 22,716 $ 6,393 $ (1,126) $ (363) $ 27,620

CASH FLOWS 
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Increase in restricted cash  (204,986)  –  –  –  (204,986)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (1,924)  (144)  (76)  93  (2,051)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  577  139  358  (127)  947

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities  (206,333)  (5)  282  (34)  (206,090)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in debt  198,365  (39)  –  –  198,326
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  125  5  –  (6)  124
Deferred financing costs paid  (7,167)  –  –  –  (7,167)
Change in intercompany payable  5,414  (6,330)  916  –  –
Dividends on common stock  (6,312)  –  –  (1)  (6,313)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  190,425  (6,364)  916  (7)  184,970
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  6,808  24  72  (404)  6,500
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year  16,214  194  648  535  17,591

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year $ 23,022 $ 218 $ 720 $ 131 $ 24,091

 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Oxford Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 
3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, and the related consolidated 
statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended June 3, 2005. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
 We conducted our audits in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 
reasonable basis for our opinion.
 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respect, the consolidated 
financial position of Oxford Industries, Inc. and subsidiar-
ies at June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, and the consolidated 
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended June 3, 2005, in confor-
mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

 As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements, in the fourth quarter of the year ended June 3, 
2005, the Company changed the date of its annual impair-
ment testing under SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” to the first day of the fourth quarter.
 We also have audited, in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the effectiveness of Oxford Industries, Inc. 
and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting 
as of June 3, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
and our report dated August 11, 2005 expressed an unqual-
ified opinion thereon.

  /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
August 11, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Our management is responsible for establishing and main-
taining adequate internal control over financial report-
ing, as defined under Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f ) and 
15d-15(f ). Our internal control over financial reporting is 
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of our consolidated financial statements for external pur-
poses in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States.
 Our internal control over financial reporting is sup-
ported by a program of appropriate reviews by manage-
ment, written policies and guidelines, careful selection 
and training of qualified personnel and a written code 
of conduct. Because of its inherent limitations, internal 
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of June 3, 2005. In mak-
ing this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework. Based on our assessment and those criteria, we 
believe that we have maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of June 3, 2005.

 Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of June 3, 2005 has 
been audited by Ernst & Young, LLP, the independent reg-
istered public accounting firm that audited and reported 
on our consolidated financial statements included in this 
Form 10-K, as stated in their report which is included on 
the following page.

/s/ J. Hicks Lanier

J. Hicks Lanier
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
August 11, 2005

/s/ Thomas Caldecot Chubb III

Thomas Caldecot Chubb III
Executive Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)
August 11, 2005

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Oxford Industries, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in 
the accompanying Report of Management on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Oxford Industries, 
Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of June 3, 2005 based on criteria established 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). Oxford Industries, 
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting and for its assess-
ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effective-
ness of the company’s internal control over financial report-
ing based on our audit.
 We conducted our audit in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over finan-
cial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, test-
ing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control, and performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 A company’s internal control over financial report-
ing is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. A company’s internal control over financial report-
ing includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to per-
mit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and direc-
tors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control 
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effective-
ness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate.
 In our opinion, management’s assessment that Oxford 
Industries, Inc. maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of June 3, 2005, is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our 
opinion, Oxford Industries, Inc. maintained, in all mate-
rial respects, effective internal control over financial report-
ing as of June 3, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.
 We also have audited, in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Oxford 
Industries, Inc. as of June 3, 2005 and May 28, 2004, and 
the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockhold-
ers’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended June 3, 2005 of Oxford Industries, Inc. and 
our report dated August 11, 2005 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon.

   /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
August 11, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING



PRINCIPAL OFFICE
P.O. Box 54600
222 Piedmont Ave., N.E.,
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
Telephone: (404) 659-2424
Facsimile: (404) 653-1545
E-mail address: info@oxfordinc.com
For additional information, please visit 
our Web site at www.oxfordinc.com

SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES
Tommy Bahama Group, Inc.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
SunTrust Bank
Mail Code 258
P.O. Box 4625
Atlanta, Georgia 30302

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP
Suite 2800
600 Peachtree Street
Atlanta, Georgia 30308-2215

FORM 10-K
Copies of the Form 10-K as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission are 
available without cost to the shareholders 
of the Company by writing to:

Investor Relations
Oxford Industries, Inc.
222 Piedmont Ave., N.E.
Atlanta, Georgia 30308

ANNUAL MEETING
The annual meeting of shareholders of 
the Company will be held at the principal 
offices of the Company, 222 Piedmont 
Ave., N.E., Atlanta, Georgia on October 10, 
2005, at 3:00 p.m. local time. For more 
information, please contact

Sheridan B. Johnson
Corporate Secretary
Telephone (404) 659-2424

SHAREHOLDER ASSISTANCE
For information about accounts, change 
of address, transfer of ownership or issu-
ance of certificates, please contact:

SunTrust Bank
Mail Code 258
P.O. Box 4625
Atlanta, Georgia 30302
Telephone: (800) 568-3476

INVESTOR INQUIRIES
Analysts, investors, media and others 
seeking financial and general information, 
please contact:

Investor Relations
Oxford Industries, Inc.
222 Piedmont Ave., N.E.
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
Telephone: (404) 653-1446
Facsimile: (404) 653-1545
E-mail address: info@oxfordinc.com

PRINCIPAL LOCATIONS FOR  
OXFORD SEGMENTS
Tommy Bahama Group
428 Westlake Ave. North
Seattle, Washington 98109
Telephone: (206) 622-8688
Facsimile: (206) 622-4483

Menswear Group
3 Park Avenue, 24th Floor,
New York, New York 10016
Telephone: (212) 481-4901
Facsimile: (212) 481-4908

Womenswear Group
1001 6th Avenue
New York, New York 10018
Telephone: (212) 556-5300
Facsimile: (212) 556-5462

Oxford Industries, Inc. is an Equal 
Opportunity Employer with an 
Affirmative Action Plan.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Our Securities and Exchange Commission filings and public announcements often include forward-looking statements about future events.  We intend for all such 
forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  Important assumptions relating to these forward-looking statements include, among others, assumptions regard-
ing demand for our products, expected pricing levels, raw material costs, the timing and cost of planned capital expenditures, expected outcomes of pending litigation, 
competitive conditions, general economic conditions and expected synergies in connection with acquisitions and joint ventures.  Forward-looking statements reflect 
our current expectations and are not guarantees of performance.  These statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions, which in turn are based 
on currently available information.  These beliefs and assumptions could prove inaccurate.  Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.  Should 
one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, 
estimated or projected.  Many of these risks and uncertainties are beyond our ability to control or predict. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited 
to: (1) general economic cycles; (2) competitive conditions in our industry; (3) price deflation in the worldwide apparel industry; (4) our ability to identify and 
respond to rapidly changing fashion trends and to offer innovative and upgraded products; (5) changes in trade quotas or other trade regulations, including “safe 
guard” quotas; (6) our ability to continue to finance our working capital and growth on acceptable terms; (7) significant changes in weather patterns (e.g., an 
unseasonably warm autumn) or natural disasters such as hurricanes, fires or flooding; (8) the price and availability of raw materials and finished goods; (9) our 
dependence on and relationships with key customers; (10) consolidation among our customer base; (11) the ability of our third party producers to deliver quality 
products in a timely manner; (12) potential disruptions in the operation of our distribution facilities; (13) any disruption or failure of our computer systems or 
data network; (14) the integration of Ben Sherman into our company; (15) our ability to successfully implement our growth plans, including growth by acquisi-
tion; (16) unforeseen liabilities associated with our acquisitions; (17) economic and political conditions in the foreign countries in which we operate or source our 
products; (18) increased competition from direct sourcing; (19) our ability to maintain our licenses; (20) our ability to protect our intellectual property and prevent 
our trademarks, service marks and goodwill from being harmed by competitors’ products; (21) our reliance on key management and our ability to develop effective 
succession plans; (22) our ability to develop and maintain an effective organization structure; (23) risks associated with changes in global currency exchange rates; 
(24) changes in interest rates on our variable rate debt; (25) the impact of labor disputes, wars or acts of terrorism on our business; (26) the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures related to financial reporting; (27) our ability to maintain current pricing on our products given competitive or other factors; 
and, (28) our ability to expand our retail operations.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date this report is filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  We disclaim any intention, obligation or duty to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events 
or otherwise, except as required by law. Other risks or uncertainties may be detailed from time to time in our future Securities and Exchange Commission filings. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

OXFORD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

       Year Ended      2005-2004
     June 3, 2005 May 28, 2004 May 30, 2003 % change

 (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales  $1,313,609 $1,116,552 $764,602 17.6%
Net earnings 49,827 39,716 20,327 25.5%
Basic earnings per common share 2.97 2.47 1.35 20.2%
Diluted earnings per common share 2.87 2.38 1.34 20.6%
Dividends per common share 0.51 0.45 0.42 13.3%
Stockholders’ equity 303,501 238,977 189,365 27.0%
Book value per share at year-end 17.97 14.74 12.59 21.9%
Return on average stockholders’ equity 18.4% 18.5% 11.2% -0.5%

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Oxford Industries, Inc. is a producer and marketer of branded and private label apparel for men, women and 
children. Oxford provides retailers and consumers with a wide variety of apparel products and services to suit 
their individual needs. Oxford’s brands include Tommy Bahama®, Indigo Palms®, Island Soft®, Ben Sherman®, 
Ely & Walker® and Oxford Golf®. The Company also holds exclusive licenses to produce and sell certain product 
categories under the Tommy Hilfiger®, Nautica®, Geoffrey Beene®, Slates®, Dockers® and Oscar de la Renta® 
labels. The Company’s customers are found in every major channel of distribution. Oxford’s common stock 
has traded on the New York Stock Exchange since 1964 under the symbol OXM. For more information, please 
visit our Web site at www.oxfordinc.com.

As of June 3, 2005, there were 464 shareholders of record of our common stock. The table below sets forth, for 
each of the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock (adjusted to refl ect our 
two-for-one stock split on December 1, 2003) as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape.

       High Low

Fiscal 2005
 Fourth Quarter   $42.59 $33.66
 Third Quarter   $42.50 $33.34
 Second Quarter   $43.45 $35.50
 First Quarter   $45.14 $35.15

Fiscal 2004
 Fourth Quarter   $47.50 $35.00
 Third Quarter   $44.69 $29.60
 Second Quarter   $35.83 $28.65
 First Quarter   $30.65 $19.52

On July 11, 2005, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.135 per share payable on September 5, 
2005 to shareholders of record on August 22, 2005, which was the 181st consecutive quarterly dividend we 
have paid since we became a public company in July 1960.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Oxford Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

DIRECTORS

J. Hicks Lanier
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

S. Anthony Margolis
Group Vice President
Tommy Bahama Group

Knowlton J. O’Reilly*
Group Vice President
Womenswear Group

Cecil D. Conlee
Chairman
CGR Advisors
(real estate advisor)

Thomas C. Gallagher
Chief Executive Officer
and President
Genuine Parts Company
(automotive replacement 
parts, industrial products, 
office supplies and electrical 
and electronic parts)

J. Reese Lanier, Sr.
Self-employed
(farming and related business)

James A. Rubright
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Rock-Tenn Company
(manufacturer of paperboard, 
paperboard packaging and 
merchandise displays)

Robert E. Shaw
Chief Executive Officer
Shaw Industries Group, Inc.
(carpet manufacturing and 
marketing)

Clarence H. Smith
President and 
Chief Executive Officer
Haverty Furniture
Companies, Inc.
(home furnishings retailer)

E. Jenner Wood III
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
SunTrust Bank
Central Group
(banking)

Helen B. Weeks
Retired Chief Executive 
Officer, Ballard Designs, Inc. 
(catalog retailer)

* Retiring from Board 
of Directors effective 
October 10, 2005, as 
required by the Company’s 
bylaws

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

 J. Hicks Lanier
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Michael J. Setola
President

S. Anthony Margolis
Group Vice President
Tommy Bahama Group

Knowlton J. O’Reilly
Group Vice President
Womenswear Group

Thomas C. Chubb III
Executive Vice President

John A. Baumgartner
Senior Vice President

K. Scott Grassmyer
Senior Vice President 
and Controller

J. Reese Lanier, Jr.
Senior Vice President 
and Treasurer

Christine B. Cole
Vice President 

Anne M. Shoemaker
Vice President 

Oxford has included as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 3, 2005 certificates of 
Oxford’s Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President (Principal Financial Officer) certifying the quality of Oxford’s 
public disclosures. Oxford’s Chief Executive Officer has also submitted to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) a certifi-
cate certifying that he is not aware of any violations by Oxford of the NYSE corporate governance listing standards.
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